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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010

1. Principal activities

Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) (‘the company’) 1s a helding company to subsidiaries (together ‘the group’)
that provide a wide range of financial services to clients located worldwide The company operates 1n a US Dollar
environment as part of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc  Accordingly, the company’s functional currency 15 US

Dollars and these financial statements have been prepared 1n that currency

2. Review of business and future developments

The financial statements have been drawn up for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010 Comparauve

information has been presented for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009

Business environment

The group’s financial performance 15 highly dependent on the environment 1in which 11s businesses operate A
favourable business environment 1s generally characterised by, amongst other factors high global gross domestic
product growth, transparent, hquid and efficient capinal markets, low inflation, high business and investor
confidence, stable geopolitical conditions, and strong business earmings Unfavourable or uncertain econonuc and
markel concditions can be caused by declines in economuc growth, business activity or investor or business
confidence, himitations on the availability or increases in the cost of credit and capital, increases in inflation, interest
rates, exchange rate volaulity. default rates or the price of basic commodities outbreaks of hostiliies or other
geopolitical instability, corporate, political or other scandals that reduce investor confidence n capial markets,

natural disasters er pandemics, or a combination of these or other factors

\

Dunng the first half of 2010, several Eurozone economuies remained under stress, reflecting fiscal challenges and
banking sector concerns In addition, concerns about sovereign debt nisk in certain Eurozone economes ntensified
during the peniod, contributing 1o hugher market volatility and funding pressures The European Central Bank and
cerfain governments 1n the Eurozone took a range of policy measures to address these 1ssues  Global equaty markets
dechined sigmificantly during the second quarter and equity volatility levels increased sharply In addiuion, corporate
credit spreads widened duning the second quarter and acuvity levels declined During the second half of 2010, some
of these conditons reversed, as cquity volatulity levels decreased, global equily prices generally recovered and
corporate credit spreads narrowed In addition, 1n the US, the Federal Reserve renewed quantitative ¢asing measures
in order to sumulate economic growth and protect against the risk of deflauon Over the year, business acuvity
across a wide-range of industries and regions has been greatly reduced and mdany compames were n serious

difficulty due to reduced consumer spending and low levels of Liquidity 1a the credit markets

The profit and loss account for the period 1s set out on page 10 Net revenue was US$7,844 million lor the 52 week
period ended 31 December 2010 (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 US$11,989 mulion) The results for the
group show a pre-tax profit of US$1 270 mullion for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010 (57 week period
ended 31 December 2009 US$5,368 million) The group has total assets of US$753 hilhon (31 December 2009

US$761 billion) and the company has tolal assets of US$23 billion (31 December 2009 US$23 billon)

During the penod, the group reorgamised 1ts three business segments into four new reporlable business segments
Investment Banking, Institutional Client Services, Investing & Lending and Investment Management Consequently,
the prior period information has been presented on a comparable basis  Details of the group s business segments are

gtven 1n note 2 to the financial statements

Investment Banking

The decrease 1n Investment Banking reflected lower revenues 1n the Underwrniting business, partially offset by higher
net revenues in Financial Advisory The dechine m Underwniuing reflected lower revenues in equity underwriting,

principally due to a decline 1n client activity




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
2. Review of business and future developments (continued)

Instituticnal Client Services

The decrease 1n Institutional Chient Services reflected signmficantly lower net revenue in Fixed Income, Currency and
Commodities Client Execution (‘FICC’) and, to a lesser exient, Equities Duning 2010, FICC operated 1n a
challenging environment characterised by lower chent acuvity levels, which reflected broad market concerns
including European sovereign debt risk and uncertainty over regulatory reform, as well as ughter bid / offer spreads
The decrease in net revenue primanly reflected significantly lower results 1n 1nterest rate and credit products

The decline in Equities primarily reflected sigmficantly lower net revenues in Equities Chient Execution, principally
due to significantly lower results 1in denivatives and shares reflecung lower chent activity levels In addition,
securiies services net revenues were significantly lower, primanly reflecting tighter secunities lending spreads,
principally due to the 1mpact of changes 1n the composition of customer balances Dunng 2010, although equity
markets were volatle during the first half of the year, equity prices generally improved and volatihity levels declined
in the second half of the year

Investing & Lending

The decrease in Investing & Lending mainly reflects the hiquidation of substanuially all of the posiions hetd within
the Principal Strategies business during the period

Investment Management

The ncrease 1n Investment Management primarily reflect the increase in management and other fecs, resuluing from
both a favourable change in the mix of assets under management and higher average assets under management, as
well as higher incentive fees

Adrmmmstrative Expenses and Interest Payable

Administrative expenses decreased to US$6,216 million for the period {57 week period ended 31 December 2009
US$6,334 million) Admimstrative expenses mclude a charge of US$455 mulhion (57 week period ended 31
December 2009 US$1,800 milhion) relanng to the mark-to-market of equity-based compensation awarded n prior
penods charged by the The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc and the UK Bank Payroll Tax of US$465 million

Interest payable increased to US$351 milhion for the period (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 US$344
milhon) Interest payable primanly includes interest on subordinated debt and semor debt balances during the
period

Pension

The group has a pension surplus of US$164 million as at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009 deficnt of US$157
muilion) following the tnienmal full valuation performed as at 31 December 2009 ncluding a review of actuanal
assumptions The review included a change 1n the reference price inflation index from the Retail Prices Index (‘RPI )
to the Consumer Prices Index (‘CPL’) following the UK Government’s announcements on the indexation of benefits,
which resulted 1 a £59 9 million (US$92 5 mullion) contrtbution 1o the surplus In addition, the group made a one-
off contnbution of £142 mullion (US$222 mulhion) driving the decrease in the pension deficit and creaung the
majority of the pension surplus
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

2.

Review of busmess and future developments (continued)

Stratepy

The Goldman Sachs Group. Inc 15 a bank holding company and a financial holding company regulated by the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) It s also a leading global investment banking,
securiies and invesiment management firm that provides a wide-range of financial services to a substantial and
diversified client base that includes corporations, financial institutions, governments and high-net-worth individuals
As part of this group, the company and 1ts subsidiary undertakings seck to be the advisor of choice for its clients and
a leading participant 1n the global financial markets The group’s strategy, consistent with that of The Goldman
Sachs Group Inc, 1s 1o grow us four core businesses, Investment Banking, Insututional Chient Services, Investing &
Lending and Investment Management 1n markets throughout the world

Principal risks and uncertainties

The group faces a variety of risks that are substantial and inherent 1n 1ts businesses including market, hquidity,
credit, operanonal legal and reputational risks The following are some of the more important factors that could
affect the businesses

Economic and market condittons

The businesses, by their nature do not produce prediciable earnings and are matenially affected by conditions 1n the
global financial markets and economic conditions generally In the past, these condiions have changed suddenly
and, for a penod of tume, very negatively

Market volanhty

Certain of the market-making businesses depend on market volatility to provide trading and arbitrage opportunities
to chients Decreases in volatility may reduce these opportunities and adversely affect the results of these businesses
In contrast, increased volatility, whilst it can increase trading volumes and spreads, also increases risk as measured
by Value-at-Risk (*VaR’) and may expose the group to increased risks in connection with market-making activities
or necessitate the reduction in s1z¢ of these activities 1n order to avold increasing VaR Limiung the size of such
market-making positions can adversely affect the group’s profitabiluty, even though spreads are widemng and the
group may earn more on each trade In periods when volauhity 1s increasing, but asset values are declining
significantly, 1t may not be possibie to sell assets at all or it may only be possible 1o do so at steep discounts  In such
circumstances, the group may be forced to enther take on additional nisk or to incur losses 1n order to decrease its
VaR In addiion, increases 1 volatiity increase the level of the group’s nsk weighted assets and capital
requirements, both of which in turn increase funding costs

Ligurdity

Liquidity 1s essential to the businesses The group’s hquidity could be impaired by an mability to access secured and
/ or unsecured debt markets, an mability to access funds from its affiliates, an mnability to sell assets or redeem
investments or unforeseen outflows ot cash or collateral This situation may anse due (o circumstances that the group
may be unable 1o control such as a general market disruption or an operauonal problem that affects third parties or
the group or even by the perceplion amongst market participants that the group 1s expenencing greater hquidity nisk
Furthermore, the group’s ability 1o sell assets may be tmpaired if other market paruicipants are seeking to sell simlar
assets at the same time as is hikely to occur 1n a hquidity or other market crisis In addition, financial institutions wath
which the group interacts may exercise set-off nghts or the nght to require additional collateral, including in difficult
market condinons, which could further impaur 1ts access to iquidity
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Review of business and future developments (continued)
Credt quality

The group 1s exposed to the risk that third parties that owe money, securities or other assets will not perform on their
obligations These parties may default on their oblhigations to the group due to bankruptcy, lack of lhiquiduy,
operational failure or other reasons A failure of a sigmificant market participant, or ¢ven concerns about a default by
such an institution, could lead to significant hqudity problems, losses or defaulis by other institutions which in turn
could adversely atfect the group The group is also subject to the risk that its nights aganst third parties may not be
enforceable in all circumstances  In addition, deterioration 1n the credit quality of third parties whose secunties or
obligations are held by the group could result 1n fosses and / or adversely affect the group’s ability 1o use those
securities or obligations for hquidity purposes A significant downgrade 1n the credit ratings of the group’s
counterparties could also have a negative impact on the group’s results Whle, in many cases, the group 1s permitted
to require addiional collateral from counterparties that experience financial difficulty, disputes may anise as to the
amount of collateral the group 1s entitled to recerve and the value of pledged assets The termination ot contracts and
the foreclosure on collateral may subject the group to claims for the improper exercise of 1ts rights Default raes,
downgrades and disputes with counterparties as to the valuation of collateral increase significantly 1n imes of market
stress and hquidity

As part of 1ts cleaning business, the group finances client posiuons, and it could be held responsible for the defaults
or the misconduct of its chents Although credit exposures to specific chients and counterparties and to specific
industries, countries and regions that are believed to present credit concerns are regularly reviewed, default nsk may
arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee

Dervative transactions

The group 1s party to a large number of dernivauve transactions Many of these derivative instruments are individually
negouated and non-standardised, which can make exiting, transferring or setthng posiions difficult Many
dervatives require that the group delivers to the counterparty the underlying security, loan or other obligation n
order to receive payment In a number of cases, the group does not hold or 1s not able to obtain the underlying
security, loan or other obhigaion This could cause the group to forfeut the payments due to 1t under these contracts
or result 1n settlement delays with the attendant credit and operational risk as well as increased costs to the group
Derivauve transactions may also involve the nisk that they are not authonsed or appropniate for a counterparty, that
documentation has not been properly executed or that executed agreements may not be enforceable against the
counterparty

Dernivaive contracts and other transacuons entered nto with third parties are not always confirmed by the
counterparties or settled on a umely basis While the transacuon remains unconfirmed or during any delay n
settlement, the group 1s subject to heightened credit and operational nisk and n the event of a default may find 1t
more difficult to enforce 1ts rights In addition as new and more complex derivative products are created, covering 4
wider array of underlying credit and other instruments, disputes about the terms of the underlying contracts could
anse, which could impair the group’s abiluy to effecuvely manage 1ts risk exposures from these products and subject
it to increased costs The provisions of legislation requining central clearing of credit derivatives and other over-the-
counter (‘OTC ) denivauves. or a market shift toward standardised denivanves, could reduce the nisk associated with
such transactions, but under certain circumstances could also limit the group’s ability to develop derivatives that best
swit client and group needs and adversely affect the group’s profitability and increase the credit exposure to such a
plattorm




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

2.

Review of business and future developments (continued)
Operational infrastructure

The group’s businesses are highly dependent on its ability (o process and momtor, on a daily basis, a targe number of
transactions, many of which are highly complex, across numerous and diverse markets m many currencies These
transactions, as well as information technology services provided to clients, often must adhere to client-specific
guidehines, as well as legal and regulatory standards As the group’s chent base and geographical reach expands,
developing and maintaining operational systems and nfrastructure becomes increasingly challenging  Financial,
accounting, data processing or other operating systems and faciliies may fail to operate properly or become disabled
as a result of events that are wholly or parnally beyond the group’s control, such as a spike 1n transaction volume,
adverscly affecung the ability to process these transactions or provide these services The group must continuously
update these systems to support its operations and growth and to respond to changes in regulations and markets This
updauing entails sigmficant costs and creates nsks associated with implementing new systcms and integrating them
with existing ones

The group also faces the nisk of operational failure or termwnation or capacity constraints of any of the clearing
agents, cxchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries that it uses to facilitate secunities transactions
and, as interconnectivity with chients grows, the group will increasingly face the nisk of operational failure with
respect to clients” systems Any such failure or termination could adversely affect the group’s abihty to effect
transactions, service 1ts chents and manage 1ts exposure to risk

Despite the resthency plans and facihues that are tn place, the group’s ability to conduct business may be adversely
impacted by a disruption 1n the infrastructure that supports these businesses and the commumties 1n which the group
1s located This may include a disruption involving clectnical communications, transportation or other services used
by the group or thurd parties with which we conduct business

Technology

Technology 15 fundamental to the group’s businesses and industry The growth of clectromc trading and the
mtroduction of new technologies 15 changing these businesses and presenting the group with new challenges
Securinies, futures and options transactions are increasingly occurring electromically both on the group’s own
systems and through other alternative trading systems and 1t appears that the trend toward alternative trading systems
will continue and probably accelerate Some of these alternative rading systems compete with the group’s businesses
increasing competiive pressures in these and other areas In addition, the increased use by chents of low-cost
electronic trading systems and direct electromic access to trading markets could cause a reduction 1n commissions
and spreads As clients increasingly use the group’s systems to trade directly in the markets, the group may incur
liabilities as a result of their use of its order routing and execuuion infrastructure Sigmficant resources have been
invested into the development of electronic trading systems and the group expects to continue to do so but there 1s
no assurance that the revenues generaled by these systems will yield an adequate return on this nvestment,
particularly given the relatively lower commissions ansing from electromic trades

Risk management

The group seeks to monitor and control risk exposure through a risk and control framework encompassing a variety
of separaie, but complementary financial, credit, operauonal, compliance and legal reporting systems, internal
controls, management review processes and other mechanmisms The risk management process secks to balance the
group’s ability to profit from market-making positions with exposure to potential losses Whilst the group employs a
broad and diversified set of sk moninornng and nisk mitigation techmques, those techniques and the judgements that
accompany their application cannot anticipate every econenuc and financial outcome or the specifics and iming of
such outcomes Thus, the group may, in the course of 1ts activities, incur losses In adduion reter to the financial
risk management section (note 29), below
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Review of business and future developments (continued)
Future outlook

The directors consider that the period end financial position of the company and the group was satisfactory No
significant change in the company and the group's principal business activity 1s expected

Post balance sheet events

On 19 July 2011, the UK Government enacted legislation that imposes an annual non-deductible tax on relevant
hiabilities, as defined in the legislation, for pertods ending on or after 1 January 2011 for certain financial services
activities of large banks, including their subsidharies, that operate 1n the UK The current estimate of the tax for the
year ending 31 December 2011 1s approximately US$130 million, which will be accrued in the second half of 2011
The final amount may vary from this estimate as the tax will be based on the relevant habilities as of 31 December
2011

In addition, on 9 August 2011 Swandard & Poor’s Raungs Services assigned its ‘A+ / A-17 long term and short term
counterparty credit ratings to Goldman Sachs International, a subsidiary undertaking of the group

Dividends

The directors of Goldman Sachs (UK) LL C, the immediate parent undertaking, agreed to waive receipt of a
preference dividend from the company in respect of the period (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 US3$nil)
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final ordinary dividend 1n respect of the period (57 week penod
ended 31 December 2009 US$ml)

Exchange rate

The sterling / US Dollar exchange rate at the balance sheet date was £ 7/ US$ 1 5590 (31 December 2009 £/ USS
1 6154) The average rate for the period was £ / US$ 1 5422 (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 £ 7/ US$
15616)

Employment of disabled persons

Applicatnons for employment by disabled persons are fully and fairly considered having regard to the apuitudes and
abilites of each apphicant Efforts are made to ¢nable any employees who become disabled during employment to
continue their careers within The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc  Traiming, career development and promotion of
disabled persons are, to the extent possible, identical to that of other employees who are not disabled

Employee involvement

It 1s group policy that there should be effective communication with all employees who, subject te practical and
commercial considerations, should be consulted on and mmvolved in decisions that affect thewr current jobs or future
prospects Employees share in performance-based incentive schemes
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1.

12,

Directors

The directors of the company who served throughout the period and to the date of this report, except where noted,
were

Name

M A Allen

D W McDonogh
A S Nak

No director had, at the period end, any interest requiring note heren
Financial risk management

The group’s nsk management objectives and policies, as well as us nisk exposures, are described 1n note 29 to the
financial statements

Disclosure of information to auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved

. so far as each of the directors 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit information of which the company s auditors
are unaware, and

. each of the directors has taken all the steps that he / she ought to have taken as a director 1o make himselt /
herself aware of any relevant audht information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that
informauon

Auditors

Prior to 1 October 2007, the company passed an elective resolution under section 386 of the Compames Act 1985 1o
dispense with the annual reappointment of auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will, accordingly, continue n
office as auditors of the company pursuant to section 487(2) of the Compames Act 2006 and paragraph 44 of
Schedule 3 to the Companies Act 2006 (Commencement No 3 Consequential Amendment, Transiional Provisions
and Savings) Order 2007

Charitable contributions

During the period, an amount of US$71,745 913 (57 week penod ended 31 December 2009 US$92,583 387) was
donated to chanty
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13.  Directors’ responsibihties

Company law requires the dircctors to prepare accounts for each financial period which give a true and tair view of
the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the
company and the group for that period In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
. stale whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject (0 any matenial departures

disclosed and explained 1n the financial statements, and

. prepare the accounts on the going concern bdasis unless 1t 1s inapproprate (o presume that the company and
the group will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position ot the company and the group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply
with the Compantes Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the group
and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

14.  Date of authorisation of issue

The financial statements were authonised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2.8 Septembex 2011

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

D W. MCDONOGH
Director

2 So@“e_mlhﬂ* 201




Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of
Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

We have audited the financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group Heldings (U K ) for the 52 week period ended 31 December
2010 which comprise the group profil and loss account, the group and company balance sheets, the statement of total recogmsed
gains and losses and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied 1n theiwr preparation 15 applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Pracuce)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully 1n the directors” report the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for bemng satsfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 15 to audit and express an opimon on the financial
statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ircland) Those standards require
us to comply with the Audiung Pracuces Board’s Ethical Standards for Audutors

This report, including the opimons  has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opimions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report ts shown or into whose hands 1t may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounung policies are appropriate o the company’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

+ give a true and farr view ol the state of the group and company’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s
profit for the period then ended,

*  have been properly prepared 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accouniing Pracuce. and
= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements ot the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given 1n the directors’ report for the financial perniod for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing (o report 1n respect of the tollowing matters where the Compamies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, tn
our opInion

+ adequate accountung records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us. or

»  the finanoal statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns. or
+  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
+  we have not recetved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Chnistopher Rowland (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
{unlimited company)

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010

The Group
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Note US$’000 US$°000
Net revenue 2 7,844,070 11,988,601
Admimstrative expenses (6,216,048} (6,334,230)
OPERATING PROFIT 3 1,628,022 5,654,431
(Loss) / gain on sale of subsidiary undertaking 13(a) (20,312) 45,756
Share of loss of associate undertaking - (1 149)
Other interest recervable and similar income 4 4,562 8,464
Interest payable and stmilar charges 5 (351 080) (344.217)
Net fipance income 7 8,636 4,841
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 1,269,828 5.368 126
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 9 (320.,670) (1,269,576)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
TAXATION AND FOR THE PERIOD 26 049,158 4,098,550

The operating profit of the group 1s derived from continuing operations in the current and prior period

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010

The Group

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Note US$'000 US$000
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation and for
the period 949,158 4,098,550
Actuanial gain / (loss) relating to the pension
scheme 7 88,214 (300,452)
UK deferred tax attributable to the actuanal gain /
(loss) 18 (23 818) 84,127
Exchange (loss) / gain on consolidation (5.053) 8,008
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
AND SINCE LAST FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 1.008.501 3,890,233

The notes on pages 12 1o 57 form an integral part of these financial statements
Independent Auditors’ report — page 9




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

BALANCE SHEET

as at 31 December 2010

The Group The Company
31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Note US$’000 Us$°000 Us$'000 US$’000
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets 11 5380 3079 - -
Tangible fixed assets 12 6029 7 649 - -
Investments
Shares 1n subsidiary undertakings 13(a) - - 6,494,173 6.509 861
Shares 1n associate investment 13(b) - - - -
Other investments other than loans 13(c) 1367 5932 - 11,656
12,776 16,660 6,494,173 6,521,517
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial instruments owned 15 474 989 765 500 575 670 - -
Financial instruments owned and pledged as
collateral 15 21.805 808 18,547 582 - -
Secunties purchased under agreemenits to resell 16 134,391 470 113,687 284 - -
Debtors 17 109329210 113,871,917 16 540 068 16 405 731
Cash at bank and 1n hand 19 11,970,709 13,857 358 - -
752,488 962 760 539 811 16 540 068 16 405 731
CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE
WITHIN ONE YEAR
Financial instruments sold but not vet
purchased 15 (427792 329) (446 077 907) - -
Securttics sold under agreements to repurchase 20 (82,366 962) (65 670 960) - -
Other creditors 21 (209 674 074} (219 426 354) (13 759 834) (13.993 65D
(719833 365) (731 175 221) (13 759 834) {13.993.,651)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 32 655 597 29 364,590 2,780,234 2,412,080
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 32 668 373 29 381 250 9274 407 8,933,597
CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE
AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 22 (14 096.061) {11 527 161) (5 078 000) (5 078 000}
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND
CHARGES 24 (65 000) (40 000) -
NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION
SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 18,507 312 17.814 082 4 196 407 3,855,597
Pension surplus / (deficit) 7 164 002 (157.178) - -
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION
SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 18,671,314 17 656,911 4,196 407 3 855 597
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capual 25 22473 22473 22473 22473
Capital contnbution 26 73.089 67 187 73.089 67,187
Share premium account 26 1547032 1547032 1 547,032 1 547 032
Merger reserve 26 1021 395 1021 395 1021 395 1 021 395
Capital redemption reserve 26 305012 305012 - -
Profit and loss account 26 15702313 14 693 812 1,532 418 1,197 510
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS 27 18671 314 17 656 911 4 196 407 3 855 597

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 thm&o_sg 2011 and signed on 1ts behalf by

D-w MeDornosH
Ploack Oy
2% .se_?\-umbéﬂs 201\,

The notes on pages 12 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements
Independent Auditors’ report — page 9
Company number 3769030




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
{unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a.

b

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention
(modified as explained 1n note 1{n) and note 1(0)}, the accounung policies set out below and v accordance
with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the company and all of us subsidiaries Acquisition accounting 15
used to conschdate subsidiaries acquired duning the period In accounting for subsidiaries the group
consolidates fully their assets, liabihties and results for the period  All inter-company balances and transactions
are climinated from the consolidated accounts The accounung reference date of the company and 1ts subsidiary
undertakings 1s 31 December, with the exception of those subsidharies which because of certain considerations,
have different accounung reference dates The financial statements of these subsidiaries have been consohdated
on the basis of intenm financial statements for the penod to 31 December

Revenue recognition

Net revenue has been disclosed instead of turnover as this more meaningfully reflects the nature and results of
the group’s acuviies Net revenue atter charging related expenses, includes the net profit ansing from
transactions 1n securities, foreign exchange, and other financial mstruments and fees and commussions earned
Related expenses include trading interest and dividends payable less trading interest and dividends receivable

L Investment banking
Financial advisory / underwriing revenues

Fees (rom financial advisory engagements and underwriing revenues are recognised 1n carnings when the
relevant parues are contractually bound and as contract acuivity progresses unless the night to consideration
does not anise unnl occurrence of a critical event, in which case revenue 1s not recogmsed until that event
occurred

Expenses associated wiath such transacuions are deferred until the related revenue 15 recognised or the
engagement 15 otherwise concluded  Expenses associated with financial advisory transacuions are recogmised as
non-compensation ¢xpenses, net of client reimbursements  Underwniting revenues are presented net of related
expenses

1 Investment management
Management fees

Management fees are recognised on an accruals basis and are generally calculated as a percentage of a fund s
average net asset value and are recogmised over the peniod that the related service 1s provided

Incentive fees

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund s return or a percentage of a fund’s excess return above
a specified benchmark or other performance target Incentive fees are only recogmsed once they can be rehably
measured at the end of the performance perod




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
¢ Revenue recogmtion (continued)
5L Institutional client services and investing & lending
Fuancial assets and habiities held for trading

Financial assets and habiliies held for trading are recognised at fair value with realised and unreahised gains
and losses, as well as associated interest and dividend income and expenses, included 1n net revenue Financial
assets are marked to bid prices and financial liamhities are marked to offer prices  Fair value measurements do
not 1nclude transaction costs

Commissions

Commussion revenues from execuung and clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures, tees and
commusstons for the provision of prime brokerage custodian services and fees and commission from agency
lending business are recogmsed on the day the trade 1s executed and are included in net revenues

d. Leases

Leases are classified as finance lcases when the lease transfers substanuially all the nisks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

The group acts as the lessor under finance lease agreements Assets leased to counterparties are derccognised at
the incepuon of the lease Debtors under finance leases are included wuthin other debtors and represent
outstanding amounts due under the agreements less finance charges allocated to future periods Finance lease
interest (ncome 1s recogmised 1n other interest receivable and similar income over the period of the lease so as
1o give a constant rate of return on the net investment 1n the leases

The group acts as the lessee under operating lease agreements Assets leased from counterparties are not
recognised on the balance sheet Rental expense in respect of operating leases less any incentives granted by
the lessor, are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included within administrative expenses
in the profit and loss account

€. Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits, such as wages and salanies, are measured on an undiscounted basis and accrued
as an expense over the period in which the employee renders the service to the group Provision 1s made for
discretionary peniod end compensation whether to be paid 1n cash or share-based awards where, as a result of
group policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date

f Share-based payments

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc 1ssues awards 1n the form of restricted stock units ('RSUs”) and stock options
to the group’s employees for services rendered to the group The cost of equity-based transacuons with
employees 18 measured based on the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date Non-market based
vesting conditions are not taken nto account 1 measuring the fair value of awards, but are reflected by
adjusting over ume the number of equity awards that are expected to vest Share-based awards that do not
contan vestng conditions are expensed immediately Share-based employee awards that require future service
are amortised over the relevant service period




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

f.

Share-based payments (continued)

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc settles equity awards through the delivery of 11s ordinary shares The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc pays cash dividend equivalents on outstanding restricted stock unuts The group has also
cntered 1nto a chargeback agreement with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc under which 1t 1s commutied to pay
the market value at grant date, as well as subsequent movements in fair value of those awards, to the group at
the tme of delivery 1o 1ts employees

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars at rates of exchange ruling on
the date the transaction occurred Monetary assets and habihues denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into US Dollars al rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised 1n operaung profit The results of subsidiaries with non US Dollar functional currencies
are translated at the average rates of exchange during the period and their balance sheets at the rates ruling at
the balance sheet date Exchange differences ansing from the retranslation of the opening net assets and results
are reported 1n the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses

Pension cost

The group 1s a sponsor of a defined comnbution pension scheme and a hybnid pension plan for the benefit of
certam employees The defined benefit and defined contributions sections of the hybnd plan and the defined
contributton pension scheme are accounted for as tollows

(1)  for the defined benefit section, the amounts charged o operaung profit are the current service costs, any
past service costs and any gains or losses on settlements and curtmlments They are included as part of
staff costs The interest cost and expected return on assets are shown as a net amount within nct finance
income Actuarial gans and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of total recognised gamns
and losses The defined benefit section 1s funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those
of the group, wn separate trustee-admimistered funds Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and
habilittes are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent Lo the current rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term
to the scheme habihues Full actuanal valuations are obtained at least trienmially and updated at each
balance sheet date Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over scheme labilites 1s recogmised on the
balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or habihty (deficit)

(n) for the defined contnbution section and the defined contrnibution pension scheme, the amount charged to
operating profit in respect of pension costs is the contnibutions payable for the peniod Differences
between contributions payable for the period and contributions actually paid are shown as cither accruals
or prepayments on Lhe balance sheet

Goodwill

Where the fair value of the separable net assets 1s less than the fair value of the consideranon for an acquired
undertaking the difference 1s treated as positive goodwill Positive goodwill 1s capitahised and amortised 1in the
profit and loss account on a straight line basis Provision 1s made tor any impairment

Where the fair value of the sgparable net assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration for an acquired
undertaking the difference 1s treated as negative goodwill which 1s mmitially recogmised on the balance sheet
Negative goodwill, up to the amount of the fair value of the non monetary assets acquired 15 recogmised 1n the
profit and loss account in the period in which the non monetary assets are recovered Any negative goodwill in
excess of the farr value of the non monetary assets acquired 15 recognised 1n the profit and loss account 1n the
period expected (o benefit
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends on financial instruments classified as equity are recogmised 1n the pernod that they are approved
by the shareholders Intenm equity dividends are recogmsed in the period that they are paid These dividends
are dehited directly Lo equity

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment
Depreciation s included in administrative expenses and 1s provided on a straight-lhine basis over the estimated
useful hives at the following annual rates

%
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 14-33
Motor vehicles 20

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the vseful economic Iife of the asset or the
remaimng hfe of the lease when the asset 1s brought into use Depreciation policies are reviewed on an annual
basis

Fixed asset investments

Fixed assct investments comprise shares 1n subsidiary undertakings, shares 1n assoctate investments and other
investments other than loans These are stated at cost or amortised cost, as apphcable less provision for any
imparrment except for equity investments tn the group accounts which are stated at fair value and shares 1n
assoclate tnvestments, which are accounted for under the equity method by the group

Offsetting financial assets and habilities

Financial assets and habilities are oftset and the net amount presented 1n the balance sheet where there 1s
(1) currently a legally enforceable night to set off the recogmsed amounts and

(1) ntent to scttle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the habiluty simultaneously

Where these conditions are not met financial assets and habihiies are presented on a gross basis in the balance
sh

Financial instruments held for trading

Financial assets and liabilittes held for trading are recorded at fauwr value The fair value of a financial
instrument s the amount that would be received to sell an asset or patd to transfer a hability 1n an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 1 e the exit price Financial assets are marked
10 bid prices and financial habilities are marked to offer prices Fair value measurements do not include
transaction costs  Fair value gains or losses are included in net revenue

The best evidence of fair value 1s a quoted price 1n an acuve market If hisied prices or quotations are not
available, fair valve 15 determuned by reference to prices for simlar instruments, quoted prices or recent
transactions 1n less active markets, or internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, market-based
or independeatly sourced paramcters. including but not limited to nterest rates, volatilines equity or debt
prices, foreign exchange rates and credit curves The fair value of certain financial assets and financial
liabihties may include valuation adjustments for counterparty and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc ’s credit
quahty, transfer restrictions, large and / or concentrated positions, illiquidity and bid / offer inputs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n.

Fmancial instruments held for trading (continued)

Cash instruments include secunities, which are typically readily transferable and exhibit reasonahble levels of
price transparency, and other cash instruments, such as loans Cash instruments that trade 1n active markets are
valued using quoted prices for identical unrestricted instruments where available Other cash instruments (such
as mosl government agency obligauons, most corporate debt sccunties, less liqud publicly hsted equaties
certain state and mumcipal obhgations and certain money market instruments and loan commitments) are
valued by venfying to quoted prices, recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker or
dealer quotations or allernative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency Consideration 18
given to the nature of the quotatnons (e g indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to
the prices provided from alternative pricing sources Valuation adjustments are typically made (1) 1f the cash
instrument 15 subject to regulatory or contractual transier restricuons and / or (n} for other premums and
discounts that a market parucipant would requure to arnive atl exil price Valuation adjustments are generally
based on market evidence where available

Certain cash instruments have one or more sigmficant valuation inputs that are not observable Absent evidence
to the contrary, these instruments are imitially valued at transacuon price, which 1s considered to be the best
imval estimate of fair value When a pricing model 1s used the model 1s adjusted so that the model value of the
cash instrument at inception equals the transaction price Subsequently, the group uses other methodologies to
determine fair value which vary based on the type ol instrument Valuation inputs and assumptons are
changed when corroborated by substanuve observable evidence. including values realised on sales

The group’s denvauve contracts consist of exchange-traded and over-the-counter (‘OTC’) denvatives
Exchange-traded denvauves that are acuvely traded are valued at their quoted market prnice Exchange-traded
derivatives that are not actively traded are valued using models that calibrate to market-clearing levels of OTC
derivatives

OTC dertvauves are valued wsing market transactions and other market evidence, including market-based
iputs to models, calibration to market-clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternanive
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency Consideranion 1s given to the nature of the
quotations (e g ndicative or firm) and the relatonship of recent market acuvity to the prices provided from
alternative pricing sources

Where models are used the selection of a parucular model to value an OTC denvative depends on the
contractual terms of and specific risks nherent in the instrument, as well as the availlabilty of prnicing
information n the market The group generally uses simular models to value sumlar instruments Valuation
models require a vartety of inputs, including contractual terms, markel prices, yield curves, credit curves,
measures of volatilty, prepayment rates, loss sevenity rates and correlations of such puts For OTC
derivatives that trade in hquid markets, model selection does not involve sigmificant management judgement
because outputs of models can be calibrated to market clearing levels

Certain OTC denvauves are valued using models which utilise inputs that can be observed n the market, as
well as unobservable inputs Unobservable nputs typically include certain correlations as well as credit
spreads equity volauliues, commoduty prices and commodity volatulities that are long-dated or derived from
trading activity 1n inactive or less hiquid markets Subsequent to the mtial valuation of such derivatives the
group updates the ohservable inputs to reflect observable market changes Unobservable inpuls are changed
when corroborated by evidence such as similar market transactions third-party pricing services and / or broker
or dealer quotations or other empirical market data In circumstances where the group cannot verify the model
value by reference 1o market transactions, w18 possible that a different valuation model could produce a
matenally different estimate of fair value

‘Day | P&L’ 1s the term used to describe the difference between the smitial transaction price and the fair value
calculated by internal models Day | P&L 1s released to profit and loss ai the earlier of the fair value becoming
observable using market parameters or through reference to similar quoted products and derecogmiuion of the
financial instrument
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n

q.

Fmancial instruments held for trading (continued)

Financial instruments owned are classified as held for trading and the directors are ot the opimon that 1t would
not be appropriate to classify them as current assel investments or to provide an analysis of such securities
between those listed and unlisted

Repurchase and resale agreements

Secunties purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements o repurchase are treated
as collateralised financing transactions recogmised on trade date and are carried at fair value under the fair
value option The collateral can be n the form of cash or secunities Cash collateral 1s recogmsed /
derccogmsed when received / paid Collateral posted by the group tn the form of securities 1s not derecognised
from the balance sheet while collateral received in the form of securines 1s not recognised on balance sheet If
collateral received 1s subsequently sold the obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are
recogmised on balance sheet

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised 1n respect of all uming differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result 1n an obligation to
pay more 1ax 1n the future or a nght to pay less lax in the future Deferred tax assets are recogmsed only 1o the
extent that the directors consider that it 1s more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlying uming differences can be deducted Deferred tax 1s measured on an
undiscounted basss at the tax rates that are expected to apply n the pertods 10 which uming differences reverse,
based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s
recogmsed (n the profit and loss account or directly in the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses
according to where the associated gatn or loss, to which the deferred tax 1s atributable, 1s recogmsed

Deferred tax assets and liabilites are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax habilities and when they relate 1o income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
group miends to settle its current (ax assets and liabihittes on a net basis

Provisions and contingent habilities

Provisions are recogmsed when 1t 15 probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a
current legal or constructive obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a rehiable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation Legal obligations that may anse as a result ot proposed
new laws are recogmsed as obligations only when the legislation 1s virtually certain to be enacted as drafted

Contingent habilities are

(1) possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence,
or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events outstde the control of the group or

(n) present obligauons that have ansen from past events but which are not recognised because either an
outflow of economic benefits 15 not probable or the amount of the obligauons cannot be rehably
measured

Conningent liabilities are not recogmised, but disclosure 1s made. unless the probability of settlement 1s remote
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

r.

s.

Non-trading financial assets and liabilities

Non-trading financial assets and habihities primarily compnse long term subordinated debt, loan notes 1ssued
other debtors, other creditors, amounts due from group undertakings and amounts due to group undertakings
They arc imually recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, with finance income
and expense recognised on an accruals basis All finance income and expense 15 recognised 1 the profit and
loss account

Classification of financial instruments 1ssued

Financial habhties and cquity mstruments issued are classified according to the substance of the coniractual
arrangements An equity instrument 15 any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
company after deducting all habihties Financial imsiruments are evaluated to determine 1f they contain both
hability and equity components The nitial carrying amount of a compound financial instrument 1s altocated
first 1o the hability component which 1s measured at fair value, and the equity component 1s assigned the
residual amount

Reporting and disclosure exemption
L FRS1 - Cash flow statements

The company 1s a greater than 90% subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, whose consolidated
accounts include the company and are publicly available and 1s, therefore, exempt from prepaning a cash flow
statement as required by FRS1 - Cash flow statements

it FRS8 - Related party disclosures

The company 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group Inc, whose consolidated accounts
include the company and are publicly available As a result, under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of FRS 8 -
Related party disclosures, the company and those of 1ts subsidiaries that are wholly-owned are exempt from
disclosing transactions with other companes also wholly owned within The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc  There
were no other related party transactions requiring disclosure

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The group has revised 1ts reporting segments in line with that of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc This change 1s a
reallocation between segments and does not impact net revenue in either the current or prior periods The group’s net
revenue 15 categonised into the following principal segments

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$000 US$000
Investment Banking 1,020,240 1,236,706
Institutional Chent Services 5936,187 9853270
Investing & Lending 271774 313,934
Investment Management 615,369 584,751
7.844,070 11,988,661
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

SEGMENTAL REPORTING {(continued)
Investment Banking

Investment Banking activities consist of

. Fmancial Advisory — 1incdudes advisory assignments with respect to mergers and acquisitions, divestitures,

corporale defence achiviiies, nsk management, restructuring and spin olfs, and

. Underwriting — includes public offerings and private placements of a wide-range of secunties, loans and other

financial instruments, and denvauve transactions directly related to chient underwriing activities
Institutional Chient Services

Institutional Client Services 15 comprised of

. Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodies Chient Execution — includes client execution activities related to

making markets 1n interest rate products, credit products, mortgages, currencies and commeodities, and,

. Equuties Client Evecution — includes client execution activities related to making markets in equity products, as

well as commussions and fees from execuung and clearing mnsututional client transactions on major stock,
options and futures exchanges worldwide Equities Chent Execution also includes the securities services
business, which provides financing, secunties lending prime brokerage scrvices to institutional chents,
mcluding hedge funds, mutual funds, pension funds and foundations, and generates revenues primarily 1n the
form ol interest rate spreads or fees

Investing & Lending

Investing & Lending includes investing activities, directly and indirectly through tunds that The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc manages, in debt securities, loans, pubhc and private equity securities and other investments

Investment Management

Investment Management provides investment management services and offers investment products across all major
asset classes to a diverse set of wnstitutional and individual clients [nvestment management also offers investment
advisory services including portfolic management and counselling services, and brokerage and other transaction
services (o high-net-worth individuals and families

Geographecal Analysis

Due to the highly integraied nature of international financial markets, the directors consider that the group operates
in a single global market As 4 result, no disclosure of segmental information relating to the geographical ongin of
results has been provided
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OPERATING PROFIT
The Group
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$’000 Us$’ 000

Operating profit 1s stated after charging /
(crediting);
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see note 12) 3,904 5,291
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of
the company’s annual accounts 186 189
Fees payable to the company’s auditor and 1ts
associates tor other services
Audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to
legislation 5,819 5,551
Other services pursuant to legislation provided by
auditors 329 333
Management tees charged by group undertakings 456,630 498,386
Management fees charged to group undertakings (77,201) (46,562)
Amortisation of goodwill (see note 11) 2 301 4,387
Operating lease rentals - land and buildings 94,476 103,625
Trading interest payable - group undertakings 827,116 2,298,223

- other 1,935,008 2,967,356
Trading interest receivable - group undertakings (196,538) (1,394,129)

- other (2,874,837) {3,890,965)
OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

The Group

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$°000 US$'000

Interest on overmight deposits 122 28
Interest on loans to parent and group undertakings 219 1,614
Interest on loans to banks and customers 3340 3.033
Other nterest recervable 881 3,789

4,562 8,464
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

The Group

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Us$000 US$’000
Interest on loans from parent and group undertakings 346,251 138,917
Interest on deposits from banks and customers 1,376 1,977
Other interest payable 453 3,323

351,080 344,217
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The Group

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Us$’000 US$000

Aggregate emoluments 38 52
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes - -
38 52

In accordance with the Compames Act 2006, directors emoluments above represent the prepertien of total
emoluments paid or payable 1n respect of quahfying services only Directors also receive emeluments for non-
qualifying services which are not required to be disclosed

All directors are members of the defined contribution pension scheme and the defined benefit pension scheme All
directors have been granted shares n respect of a long term incentive scheme One director has exercised options

STAFF COSTS

The average number of employees of the group, icluding directors, 1s analysed below
52 week period ended 57 week period ended

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Number Number
Investment Banking 574 568
Institutional Client Services 1 540 1,390
Investing & Lending 127 140
Investment Management 439 389
Support Functions 2,707 2,525
5,387 5,012

The group’s average number of employees 1s categorised into the four principal segments, per note 2, and Support
Functions Accordingly, the comparatives have been revised to be consistent with the current period’s presentation

The group has the use ot a number of individuals who are employed by affiliated enuties and seconded to the group
These seconded individuals are inclueded 1n the disclosure of headcount and related staff costs

In addiuen to the above, an average number of 600 (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 526) consultants and
temporary staff are included in the group’s headcount, the costs of whom are included in the staff costs, below
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

The employment costs incurred by the group, mcluding those relating to directors, were
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$’000 US$’000
Aggregale gross wages and salaries 4,336,700 4,862,140
Employer’s National Insurance Contributions 447,585 510,506
UK Bank Payroll Tax 465,000 -
Pension costs, employer contributions to the
Defined contribution scheme (including
defined contributions to the hybnd scheme) 50,615 39,873
Defined benefit scheme 46,486 54,337
Total direct costs of employment 5,346,386 5,466,856

Statt costs include a charge of US$455 mulhon (57 week peniod ended 31 December 2009 US$1,800 mullion)
relating to the mark-to-market of equity-based compensation

Pension schemes

The group sponsors an open pension plan with a hybrnid structure (‘the Plan’), having both defined benefit and
defined contnbuuion sections From 1 March 2008, the Plan was closed to employees whose employment
commenced after this date

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 31 December 2009
using the projected unit funding method and updated to 31 December 2010

The major financial assumptions used by the actuary underlying the funding ot the Plan which had the most
significant effect on the pension cost are set out below

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Y% per annum % per annum
Discount rate 540 565
Rate of increase in salaries 400 400
Rate of increase in pensions
{post-30 November 1996 accrual) 385 390
Rate of increase 1n pensions in deferment
(post-30 November 2006 accrual) 315 390
Rate of price inflation 385 390

The mortality assumptions were sel based on the ‘S1 senes all pensioner hght' base table projected to 2009 with an
allowance known as ‘medmum cohort’ improvements The future improvement from 2009 1s v hine with medum
cohort projecuons subject to a mmmimum level of 1% per annum

The rate of price inflation assumption was changed from referencing the Retall Prices Index (‘RPI’) to the Consumer
Prices Index (*CP1 ) following the UK Government's announcements on the indexation of benefits resulung n a gamn
of £59 9 mullion (US$92 5 mullion)
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

The assets 1 the Plan attributable to the group and the expected rates of return were:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Expected Market Expected Market

rate of return value  rate of return value

% p.a. US$m % p.a. UUS$m
Equities 87 6450 84 493 2
Bonds 45 129 2 49 1262
Cash and reinvested cash 41 2794 46 1255
Total market value of assets 1,053.6 744.9

Development of the balance sheet:

31 December 31 December 28 November 30 November 24 November

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Market value of Plan assets 1.053 6 744 9 524 1 59013 430 1
Actuanal value of Plan
habilines 889 6 902 1 3950 698 5 5476
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan
and pensien asset / (Llability)
recognised in the balance
sheet before deferred taxation 164 0 (157.2) 1291 (108.2) (117.5)

The defined benefit cost was formed of the following components:
52 week period ended
31 December 2010

57 week pertod ended
31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Analysis of amounts charged to operating profit:
Current service cost 514 425
Total charged to operating profit 514 42.5
Analysis of the amount credited to net finance income-
Interest on Plan Liabilities 48 4 3l
Expected return on assets in the Plan (570 (359
Total credited to net finance income 8.6) 48
Total charged to profit and loss before tax 428 377
Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of total
recognmised gains and losses.
Gain on assets (143 (107 0)
Experience gain on habilities (48 6) (172)
(Gain) / loss 1n assumptions
{financial and demographic) (25 6) 4247
Total (gain) / loss recognised in the statement of total
recogmsed gains and losses before tax (88.2) 300.5
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

History of experience gamns and losses are as follows:

31 December 31 December 28 November 30 November 24 November
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

{Gan) / loss on Plan
assets

Amount (US$m) (14 0) (107 0) 1158 (66 8) 475
% of Plan assets at end of

the period 1 3% 14 4% 22 1% 113% 0%
Experience (gain) / loss

on Plan habihties:

Amount (US$m) (48 6) (172) (159 387 304

% of Plan habilities at end

of the period 55% 1 9% 4 0% 55% 56%

Total actuarial (gain) /
loss recognised in
statement of total
recognised gains and
losses.

Amount (US$m) (882) 300 5 (153 9) (46 5) 123
% ot Plan Lhabilities at end
of the period 9 9%

L)
)
[F%]
®

39 0% 6 7% 2 3%

Analysis of the movement in Plan assets durmng the period

52 week period ended 37 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Plan assets at the start of the period 744 9 524 1
Expected return on Plan assets 570 359
Gain on assets 140 1070
Contnibutions paid — Employer 266 8 550
Benefits paid (6 8) (102)
Foreign exchange (loss) / gain on translation of Plan assets (22 3) 331
Plan assets at the end of the period 1,053.6 744.9
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7. STAFF COSTS (continued)

Analysis of the movement in Plan liabilities during the period
52 week period ended 57 week period ended

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Plan liabilities at the stan of the penod 902 1 3950
Current service cost 514 425
Interest on Plan habilities 48 4 311
{Gan) / loss on change 1in assumptions (25 6) 4247
Experience gain (48 6) (17 2)
Benefits paid 68) (102)
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss on translation of Plan habilities (313) 362
Plan liabilities at the end of the period 889.6 902.1

Analysis of the movement in (deficit) / surplus in the Plan during the period
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
(Deficit) / surplus 1n the Plan at the start of the period (157 2) 1291
Contributions paid — Employer 266 8 550
Current service cost (51 4) (425)
Net finance income 86 48
Actuarial gain / (loss) 882 (300 5)
Foreign exchange gain / (loss) on translation of (deficit) / surplus 90 an
Surplus / {deficit) in the Plan at the end of the period 164.0 (157.2)

Additional disclosures:
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Expected future benefil payments for the period to
31 December 2011 / 31 December 2010 70 103
Expected contributions for the period to
31 December 2011 /31 December 2010 — Employer 460 2774
Actual return on Plan assets during the period ended
31 December 2010/ 31 December 2009
Expected return on Plan assets 570 359
Asset gain during the period 140 1070
Actual return on Plan assets 71.0 142.9
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STAFF COSTS (continued)

Cumulative amounts recogmised 1n the statement of total recogmsed gains and losses since the adeption of
FRS17 Retirement Benefits

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme (39 4) (127 6)
UK deferred tax attributable to the actuanal
loss 124 362
Net cumulative amount recognised n the statement of
total recognised gains and losses (27.0) (91.4)

In addition to the plan described above, the group also operates a number of defined contribution plans The total
contribution cost of these plans for the period 1s the £221,573 (US$341.710) (57 week period ended 31 December
2009 £187,159 (US$292,265)) There 1s no amount 1n respect of this cost that remains payable at the balance sheet
date (2009 USSmil)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Stock incentive plan

The group s ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, sponsors a stock incentive plan, The
Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (‘the SIP’), which provides for, amongst others, grants
of incentive stock options and restricted stock units ('RSUs”™)

Restricted stock umts ( RSUs’)

The Goldman Sachs Group Inc 1ssued RSUs to the group’s employees under the SIP, primanly in connection with
period-end compensation RSUs are valued based on the closing price of the underlying shares at the date of grant
Period end RSUs generally vest and deliver as outhned 1n the applicable resiricted stock umt agreements  All
employee-RSU agreements provide that vesting 1s accelerated in certain circumstances, such as upon retirement,
death and extended absence In all cases, delivery of the underlying shares of common stock 1s conditioned on the
grantees satisfying certain vesting and other requirements outhined in the award agreements The activity related to
these RSUs 15 set forth below

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
No. of RSUs No. of RSUs

No future Future No future Future
service service service service
requirement  requirement  requirement  requirement

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 6,730,435 5728,832 9,924,544 3,822,556
Granted during the period 4,201,454 9,129,145 51,560 7,068,872
Forfeuted during the period (67 459) (478,345) (47,366) (725,666)
Delivered during the period (4,977.933) - (7,528.978) -
Transferred in / {out} during the penod 2,430 (370,320 18,257 (124,512)
Vested during the period 5,207,496 (5,207 496) 4,312,418 (4,312,418)
Qutstanding at the end of the period 11,096,423 8,801,816 6,730,435 5,728,832

The weighted average fair value of the equity nstrumenis granted during the 52 week period ended 31 December
2010 was US$134 24 (57 week penod ended 31 December 2009 US$75 47) The farr value of the RSUs granted
during the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010 and the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 includes a
hiquidity discount of 11 1% and 11 4%, respecuvely, to reflect post-vesting transter restrictions of up to 4 years
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Stock options

Stock options granted to employees generally vest as outlined 1n the applicable stock opuion agreement  No options
were granted for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2010 Options granted for the 57 week pertod ended 31
December 2009 are exercisable in one-third annual instalments from January 2010 and expire on 31 December 2018
All employee stock opuion agreements provide that vesting 1s accelerated n certasn circumstances, such as upon
retiremnent, death and extended absence In general all stock opuions expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant
date, although they may be subject to earlier termination or cancellation under certam circumstances in accordance
with the terms of the SIP and the applicable stock option agreement The activity related to these stock options 1s set
forth below

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Weighted Weighted

average average

No of share exercise price No. of share exercise price

options US$ options US$

Outstanding at the beginming of the penod 13,787,180 89 24 5,580,549 104 57
Granted during the penod - - 2,606,716 T8 T8
Forfeited during the period (95,144) 78 37 (90 422) 78 82
Transferred out dunng the period (64 672) 78 78 (57 794) 78 78
Exercised during the period (1,684,352) 84 39 (1.250,801) 78 57
Expired during the period (7.089) 82 88 (1,068) 05 85
Qutstanding at the end of the period 11,935,923 90.07 13,787,180 89.24
Exercisable at the end of the period 5,258,044 92.41 3,481,757 90.10

For those options exercised during the period, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was
US$163 15 (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 US$150 48) The options outstanding as at 31 December
2010 and 31 December 2009 are set forth below

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

Weighted Weighted
average average
No. of share remaining No of share remaining
options contractual options contractual
outstanding Ife (years) outstanding Iife (years)
Exercise price
$75 00-389 99 9,679,264 761 11,098,980 794
$90 00-5104 99 1,120,629 101 1,552,170 201
$12000-5134 00 288,720 492 288 720 592
$195 00-3209 99 847,310 651 847 310 751
QOutstanding at the end of the period 11,935,923 13,787,180
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The fair value of opuions granted during the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 was estimated as of the grant
date based on a Black-Scholes option-pricing model principally using the following weighted average assumptions

31 December 2009

Risk-free inlerest rate

1 1%

Expected volatility 50 1%
Expected dividends $140
Expected hfe 4 0 years

The expected volauhity assumption 15 determined by management based on implied volatility data for histed options
on The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc common stock This information 1s typically not available for the tull term of the
options which have been granted Accordingly, management estimates longer-dated volatlities using a combination
of available market data for these shorter dated histed options and other imphed volanhty data for comparable
entities and / or benchmark indices

The common stock underlying the options granted during the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 1s subject to
transfer restrichions untul January 2014 The value of the common stock underlying the options granted during the 57
week period ended 31 December 2009 has been discounted by 26 7% to reflect these transfer restrictions

The group recorded total share-based compensation expenses net of fortentures of US$1,272 million for the 52 week
period ended 31 December 2010 (57 week period ended 31 December 2009 US3743 muilion) related to the
amortisation of cquity awards The corresponding credit 1o equuty has been transterred to habihities as a result of the
terms of the intercompany agreemenis with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc

TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

a. Analysis of tax charge for the period
The Group

52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

USs$’000 US$’000
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 28% - current penod 458,834 1,667,547
UK corporation tax - prior period 72,377 (43,907)
Overseas taxation 59,147 67,095
Total current tax (see note 9b) 590,358 1,690,735
Deferred tax
Provisions and other tming differences (269,917) (421,159)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 229 -
Total deferred tax (see note 18) (269,688) (421,159)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 320,670 1,269,576
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TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (continued)
b. Factors affecting tax charge for the period:

The current tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of corporanion 1ax 1n the UK of 28% (31
December 2009 28%) The differences are explained below

The Group
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$000 US$’000
Profit on ordmary acuviuies before lax 1,269,828 5,368,126
Profit on ordinary activities multiphed by
standard rate in the UK 28% (2009 28%) 355,552 1,503,075
Expenses disallowed lor the purposes of tax
provision 132,739 2,518
Accelerated capital allowances and other timing
differences (98 487) (70,729)
Timing differences in respect of equity-based
compensation 282,876 531,089
Exchange differences 5,037 4,765
Pension contnibution relief in excess of net
penston cost charge 4,137 2727
Group relief surrendered for nil consideration (38 003) (72,777
Adjustment to tax 1n respect of prior periods 72,377 (43 907)
Non taxable net income (117,5394) (160,572)
Current tax charge for the period 590,358 1,690,735

The tming differences in respect of equity-based compensation comprises the net tax elfect ot the amounts charged
to the profit and loss account during the period and those amounts paid (o the employees duning the period

COMPANY PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

Of the group’s profit for the period, a profit of US$334 9 million (2009 loss of US$7 9 million) has been dealt with
in the financial statements of the company  As permitted by section 408 of the Compamies Act 2006 the company’s
profit and loss account has not been included i these financial statemenis
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The movements in intangible fixed assets during the penod were as tollows

The Group
Positive Negative
Goodwill Goodwill Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Cost
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 27,447 {23,946) 3,501
Accumulated Amortisation
At 31 December 2009 (4,768) 4,346 (422)
Charge for period (5,246) 7,547 2,301
At 31 December 2010 (10,014) 11,893 1,879
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2009 22,679 (19,600) 3,079
At 31 December 2010 17,433 (12,053) 5,380
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The movements 1n tangible fixed assets during the period were as follows
The Group
Fixtures
Leasehold fittings & Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Cost
At 31 December 2009 19,444 8,596 16 28,056
Additions 1,864 505 - 2,369
Disposals - (1,211} - (1,211)
Currency translation 3 33 - 30
At 31 December 2010 21,305 7,923 16 29,244
Accumulated Depreciation
At 31 December 2009 15,258 5133 16 20 407
Charge for period 2425 1479 - 3,904
Disposals - (1,113) - (1.113)
Currency translation (8) 25 - 17
At 31 December 2010 17,675 5,524 16 23,215
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2009 4,186 3,463 - 7,649
At 31 December 2010 3,630 2,399 - 6,029

30




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

13.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost)

Shares 1n subsidiary undertakings are unhsted and stated at cost less provision for impairment

The Company
US$ 000
At 31 December 2009 6,509,861
Additions (see note 1) 24,454
Disposals (note n) {39,996)
Impairments (note 1) (146)
At 31 December 2010 6,494,173

During the peniod, the following movements 1n shares in subsidiary undertakings took place

(1

(11)

On 21 January 2010, the company was allotted 90,000 redeemable shares of £1 each 1ssued by Money Partners
Holdings Limited, for a total consideration of £90,000 (US$145,881)

On 17 March 2010, the company was allotted 4,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1ssued by Money
Partners Financial Company Limited, for a total consideration of US$4,000,000

During the pertod, the company was allotied 20,308,000 ordinary shares of US$! each 1ssued by GS Liquid
Trading Platform I PCC, for a total consideration of US$20,308,000 In addition, the company was allotted 42
ordinary shares of £1 each for a total consideration of £42 (US$66)

On 3 February 2010, the company sold 20 ordinary shares of US$1 each, being the entire share capital 1ssued
by GS Euro Investments to ELQ Investors Limited, a fellow group undertaking, for a total consideration of
US$10 852,836 Thus sale resulted 1n a loss to the company of US$9,145,148

On 3 February 2010, the company sold 20 ordinary shares of US$1 each, being the entire share capital 1ssued
by GS Euro Management toe ELQ Investors Limited, a fellow group undertaking, for a total consideration of
US$8,831,244 This sale resulted 1n a loss (o the company of US$11,166,740

(i) A write down of US$145,881 has been made aganst the cost of shares in subsidiary undertakings as the value

of the investments were less than their book value The directors constder that this represents a permanent
diminution in value
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FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued)

The subsidiaries of the group and the effecuive ownership interests to the nearest whole percent 1n the ordinary and

preference shares at the period end are histed below

Name of company and principal
activity

Group interest in shares

issued

Of which, owned directly by the

company

Goldman Sachs Asset Management
International®

(fund manager}

Goldman Sachs International Bank*
{bank loan and related activities)
Montague Place Custody Services*
{custodian services)

Goldman Sachs International*
{secunities dealer)

Goldman Sachs International Finance*
(non-trading)

Goldman Sachs Europe Lirnited*
(service company)

Fleet Trade & Transport Limited*
(o1! and shipping operations)
Goldman Sachs Holdings (U K )*
(holding company)

Goldman Sachs Secunties (Nominees)
Limited*

(nominee shareholder)

Restamove Limited*

(dormant)

Dunvegan Investments Limited*
(investment company)

Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited*
{(1ssuer of covered warrants)

Shire UK Limited*

{investment company)

Shire Funding Limited*
(investment company)

Shire Assets*

(investmenl company)

Shure 1I Assets Limited*
(investment company)

Goldman Sachs (Monaco) S8 A M*
(fund manager)

Scadbury UK Limited*
{investment company)

Scadbury Funding Limited*
(investment company)

Scadbury Assets*

(investment company)

Scadbury IT Assets Limuted*
(investment company)
Amangansett Financing Limpted*
(imvestment company)

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
1009% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares

1% Ordinary shares
99% Preference shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
1% Ordimary shares
1% Ordinary shares
46% Preference shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
(0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
0% Preference shares
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Name of company and principal
activity

Group interest in shares
issued

Of which, owned directly by the
company

Killingholme Power Group Limited*
(mvestment company)

Killingholme Generation Limited*
{investment company)

Killingholme Holdings Lirmied*
(investment company)

GS Killingholme Cayman Investments
Lid *

(investment company)

GS Killingholme Cayman Invesiments 11
Lid *

(investment company)

KPL Holdings Limited*
{investment company)

GS Leasing No 1 Limned*
(investment company}

GS Leasing No 3 Limited*
(investment company)

GS Leasing*

(leasing partnership)

GS Equipment Finance 11 Limsted*
(tnvestment company)

GS Equipment Finance I Limited®
(imvestment company)

GS Leasing Management Limited*
(1nvestment company)

Forres LLC*

{1nvesiment company)

Forres Investments Limited*
(investment company)

Hechshire*

(investment company)

GS Funding Management Limited*
(investment company)

GS Funding Investments Limited®
(nvestment company}

GS Liquid Trading Platform 1 PCC*
(investment company)

GS Liquid Trading Platform 1T Limited*
(investmenl company}

GS Leasing Holdings Limated*
{leasing holding company)

Money Partners Financial Company
Limned*

{investment company)

Money Partners Holdings Limited*
(holding company)

Money Partners Limited*
{dormant)

Money Partners Finance Limited*
{dormant)

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Redeemable shares
100% Ordinary shares

1009 Ordinary shares

1009% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Partnership interest
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Redeemable shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Redeemable shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Partnership interest
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
1009% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Preference shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Preference shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Preference shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares |
100% Redecmable shares ‘

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
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Name of company and principal
activity

Group interest in shares
1ssued

Of which, owned directly by the
company

Residennal 1 Lirmited*

(in liquidation)

KPL Finance Limied*
(investment company)

KPL Acquisitions Limited*
(invesiments company)

GS Killingholme Cayman Investments
11*

(invesiment partnership)

Beheer - En Beleggingsmaatschappn
BetracoB V *

(lease holding company)

Nufcor International Limited*
(trading company)

Nufcor Capital Limited*
{investment advisory services)
Sphere Fundo De Investimento
Multimercado - Investumento No
Exterior Credito Privado**
(investment tund)

Sphere Fundo**

(investment fund)

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Partnership interest

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Units

100% Units

*Subsidiary undertakings of the group as at 31 December 2009

0% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Partnership interest

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Unuts

0% Unnts

**Entity incorporated dunng the period by indirectly subscribing for 100% of the entity’s umits

All the above subsidiary undertakings are registered in England and Wales except tor the following

. Goldman Sachs Europe Limited, Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited, GS Liquid Trading Platform 1 PCC and
GS Liguid Trading Platform IT Limited are incorporated in Jersey

. Dunvegan Investments Limited, Shire Funding Limited, Shire II Assets Limited, Scadbury Funding
Lumited, Scadbury II Assets Limited, Amagansett Financing Limited, GS Kilhingholme Cayman
Investments Ltd , GS Killingholme Cayman Investments II Lid , GS Leasing No 1 Limited, GS Leasing
No 3 Limited, GS Leasmmg, GS Equipment Finance II Limued, GS Equipment Finance 1 Limited, GS
Leasing Management Limited, Forres Investments Limited, GS Funding Management Limited, GS Funding
Investments Limited, KPL Finance Limited, KPL Acqusittons Lumited, GS Killingholme Cayman

Investments 11l and KPL Holdings Limted are incorporated 1n the Cayman Islands

. Goldman Sachs (Monaco) S A M 1s incorporated 1in Monaco

. Forres LLC 1s incorporated 1n Delaware

. Beheer — En Beleggingsmaatschappy Befraco B 'V 15 incorporated 1n the Netherlands

. Sphere Fundo De Investimento Multimercado - Invesumento No Extenor Credito Privado and Sphere

Fundo are incorporated in Brazil
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b. Shares in associate investment

The associate of the group and the effective ownership interest n the ordinary shares at the period end 1s hsted
below

Group interest in shares  Of which, owned directly

Name of company and activity issued by the company
Barrie & Hibbert Lirited Registered in 30 94% Ordinary shares 30 94% Ordinary shares
Scotland

(Financial nsk consultancy)

The group’s share of net assets at 31 December 2010 1s US$m! (31 December 2009 US$ml) The company’s cost ot
mvestment of US$14 6 mullion was fully impaired 1n the prior period

¢. Other investments other than loans

The balance at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 comprises

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$000
Shares 1n group undertakings {see note 1) 66 66 - -
Other equity investments 1,290 5,848 - 11,656
Debentures (see note 11) 11 18 - -
1,367 5,932 - 11,656

{1} Shares 1n the group undertakings represent the following

Name of company and activity % Number in issne  Class Nomunal
Goldman Sachs Saudi Arabia 05 5,000,000 Ordinary SAR 10

(1) The movement in debentures during the period were as follows

Dehentures
US$000

Cost
At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 78
Amortisation
At 31 December 2009 60
Charge for period 7
At 31 December 2010 67
Net Book Value
At 31 December 2009 18
At 31 December 2010 11

The directors consider that the value of other investments other than loans 15 not less than their book value
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QUASI SUBSIDIARIES

The group, 1n the ordinary course of business, uthises certain vehicles, which though not fulfilling the definion of a
subsidiary, give rise to benefits for the group that are in substance no different from those that would arise were the
vehicles treated as subsidiaries As a result, these entities are consohidated

The group utilises certain vehicles to meet investors objectives These are pnmanly

» Asset-repacked note 1ssuing vehicles These vehicles purchase assets by 1ssuing debt instruments and by
entening into derivauve contracts The group has entered into interest rate, foreign currency and equuy
dervatives with these vehicles The vehicles produce no material net cash flows Cash flows received from
assets and derivatives held by the vehicles are paid enther directly or indirectly, via debt secunities 1ssued, to
the debt holders In addinon, given that all derivatives held by the vehicles offset risks inherent in s assets
and liabihues, the vehicles do not produce any matenal net profit or loss

. Fund linked note siructures These vehicles 1ssue notes that offer the investor exposure to a portfohio of
mvestments predominantly in fund form Where these notes are principal protected. this protection 1s
achieved via a mechamism under which the group pays the vehicle any shortfall between the net asset value
and the notional of the 1ssued notes at therr maturity

The combined balance sheet of these quasi-subsidiaries consohidated into the group’s financial statements, 15 as
follows

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$’000 US$’ 000
Assets
Financial instruments owned 621,406 2,851,676
Liabilsties
Debt securities 1ssued (621,406) (2.851,676)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET

PURCHASED

Finanuial instruments owned and financial instruments sold but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments
and mvestments within the operaung activities of the group Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral
represents financial mstruments owned and pledged to counterparties that have the night to deliver or repledge

Financial instruments owned, including financial instruments pledged as collateral, comprises
31 December 2010

Cash instruments:

Government & agency obligations
Equities

Corporate debt

Commercial paper

Commodities

Derivative instruments:
Credit

Interest rate

Equity

Foreign currency
Commoditics

Financial instruments owned

Financial instruments owned pledged as collateral

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprises

Cash instruments:

Government & agency obligations
Equtties

Corporate debt

Derivative instruments:
Credit

Interest rate

Equity

Foreign currency
Commodities

31 December 2009

US$000 US$°000
31,276,576 30,233,221
21,156,001 17,982,462
13,105,651 15,859,215

2,766,265 263,723

119,264 62,604

68,423,757 64,401,225
156,709,124 194,123,255
137,015,559 113,753,870

79,019,306 94,517,522

44,525,594 39,089,278

11,102,233 13,238.102
428,371,816 454,722,027
496,795,573 519,123,252
474,989,765 500,575,670

21,805,808 18,547,582
496,795,573 519,123,252

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

US$000 US$*000
23,313,148 20,415,648
12,559,308 10,645,428

2,717,824 3,107,553
38,590,280 34,168,629
136,775,581 169,394,530
131,330,550 110,264,360
66,757,981 82,731,197
44,680,242 37,973,415
9,657,695 11,545,776
389,202,049 411,909,278
427,792,329 446,077,907
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SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS TO RESELL

Included within the resale agreements are amounts of US$38,838 mullion (31 December 2009 US$12,542 mullion)
which relate to group undertakings

DEBTORS
The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$000 US$*000 US$000 US$000
Deposits as collateral for stock borrowed 5,632,258 4,197,253 - -
Amounts due from brokers / dealers and
customers 35,867,130 38,305,998 - -
Amounts due from parent and group
undertakings 66,295,462 70,054,366 16,326,034 16,190,111
Group relief recervable from group
undertakings - - 214,000 215,585
Corporation tax recoverable 15,669 1,041 - -
Deferred tax (see note 18) 1,088,751 842,851 - -
Other debtors 285,520 377,641 34 35
Prepayments and accrued income 144,420 92,767 - -
109,329,210 113,871,917 16,540,068 16,405,731

Of the amount due from parent and group undertakings, US$27 mullion (31 December 2009 US$41 mullion) in
relation to the group and US$5,078 mulhon (31 December 2009 US$5,078 million} in relauon to the company 1s due
n more than one year With regard to the group this relates (o equity based employee compensation With regard to
the company this relates to long term subordinated loans to a subsidiary undertaking The loan 1s unsecured, carries
interest al a margin over LIBOR and 15 repayable upen giving or receiving at least two years’ notice Lo or from the
subsidiary undertaking

The net investment 1n finance leases included within other debtors 15 US$112 8 million (31 December 2009
US$149 7 mulhon) of which US$66 1 mithon 1s due 1n more than one year The cost of assets acquired n the period
for the purpose of leting under finance leases was US$14 5 million (31 December 2008 USS$ml)

The remaiming debtors are all due within one year of the balance sheet date

DEFERRED TAX
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
US$'000 US$’000
Deferred tax balance comprises:
Depreciation 1n excess of capial allowances 5,090 6,328
Post-retirement benefits 5,871 59,527
Other uming differences 1,077,790 776,996
1,088,751 842,851

Other iming differences clude deferred tax 1n respect of equuity-based compensation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

US$'000
At 31 December 2009 842,851
Transfer to the profit and loss account {or the pernod 269,688
Translation adjustment 30
Transfer to the statement of total recognised gains and losses
for the penod {23.818)
At 31 December 2010 1,088,751

The directors consider that future profits will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be recovered
CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Included within cash at bank and 1n hand 1s US$10 780 million (31 December 2009 US$12,676 milhon) that 1s held
on behalf of clients 1n segregated accounts

SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

Included within the repurchase agreements are amounts of US$21 914 mullion (31 December 2009 US3$22,060
mtllion) which relate to group undertakings

OTHER CREDITORS

Other creditors, all of which are payable within one year of the balance sheet dale, comprise

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000
Bank loans and overdratts 93,454 56,612 - -
Debt securities 1ssued 17,317,901 14,396,444 - -
Deposits received as collateral for
stock loans 16,621,245 18 697.973 - -
Amounts due to brokers / dealers
and customers 25,204,148 93,006,040 - -
Amounts due 1o parent and group
undertakings 86,472,535 89 027,546 13,753,405 13,986,350
Corporation tax payable - 523,896 - -
Group rehef payable - - 906 -

Other taxes and souial security

costs 321,146 291,319 - -
Accrual for management charges

payable to parent and group

undertakings (sce note 22 1} 2,489,558 1 854,093 - -
Other creditors and accruals 1,154,087 1,572,431 5,523 7,301
209,674,074 219,426,354 13,759,834 13,993,651
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OTHER CREDITORS (continued)

Of the other creditors lalling due within one year US$60,002 mullion (31 Pecember 2009 US$56,546 nullion) 15
secured by marketable secunties, of which US$43,381 mullion (31 December 2009 US$35,729 million) relates 1o

amounts due to parent and group undertakings

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$°000 US$°000 US$’000 Us$’000
Long-term subordinated loans (see
note 23) 5,459,275 5495,847 5,078,000 5,078 000
Debt securities 1ssued {(sce note 1) 5,504,190 5,222,129 - -
Amounts due to parent and group
undertakings (see note 1) 1,819,196 - - -
Accrual for management charges
payable to parent and group
undertakings (see note n) 1,313,400 809,185 - -
14,096,061 11,527,161 5,078,000 5,078,000

{1} The maturity of debt secunties due after more than one year 1s as follows

In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$’000 US$’000
1.316.235 -
3,316,193 2,408,618

871,762 2,813,451}
5,504,190 5,222,129

Of the above, US$4,201 mullion (31 December 2009 US$1,538 mullion) 1s secured by marketable securitics
Amounts due 1n more than five years predominately relate to structured debt secunities with maturities between
2017 to 2050 Payments on these secunties arc typically referenced to underlying financial assets including
collateralised debt obhigations and OTC mortgage porifolios

(n} Included within amounts due 1o parent and group undertakings are loans of US$1,600 million (31 December
2009 US$ml) advanced by The Goldman Sachs Group Inc during the period These loans are unsecured, carry
interest at a margin over the federal funds rate and mature on 31 December 2020

(m) The accrual for management charges (per above and note 21) 1s 10 respect of RSUs and Long-Term Incentive

Plans
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

SUBORDINATED LOANS
The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2010 2009
US$’000 Uuss$ 000 US$'000 US$000
Repayable as follows

Less than one year - 32,000 - .
Between two and five years 40,533 42,000 - -
Over five years 5,418,742 5.421,847 5,078,000 5,078,000
5,459,275 5,495,847 5,078,000 5,078,000

The amounts outstanding represent long-term and short-term subordinated loans from parent undertakings These
loans are unsecured and carry interest at a margin over LIBOR

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

The Group

US$°000

At 31 December 2009 40,000
Charge for the penod 25,000
At 31 December 2010 65,000

The provision of US$65 million was made in respect of legal claims made against the group  Further details relating
to these claims have not been disclosed as permutted by accounting standard FRS!2, ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets , on the grounds that 1t would be seriously prejudicial 1o do so

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 share capital comprised

The Company
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
No. US$’000 No. US$’ 000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$0 01 each 1,785,861 370 17 858 1785,861,370 17,858
Preference shares of US$0 01 each 461,500,000 4,615 461,500,000 4,615
22,473 22473

The preference shares carry lmited voting rights and, on a winding-up, the holders have a preferential right to return
of capital together with any premium  Preference shares have a fixed non-cumulative dividend payable at a rate of 8
cents per share per annum
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SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

At 31 December 2009

Profit for the period
Contributed capital

Other recogmsed gains
Exchange loss on consolidation
At 31 December 2010

The caprital redemption reserve
undertakings within the group

At 31 December 2009
Profit for the period
Contributed capital
At 31 December 2010

The Group
Share Capital Profit

premium  redemption Capital and loss Merger
account reserve contribution account reserve
US$°000 US$’000 US$ 004 US$’000 US$°000

1,547,032 305,012 67,187 14,693,812 1,021,395

- - - 949,158 -

- - 5,902 - -

- - - 64,396 -

- - - (5.053) -

1,547,032 305,012 73,089 15,702,313 1,021,395

arose during a prior period as a result of transactions entered 1nto by subsicdhary

The Company
Share

premium Capital Profit and Merger
account  .ptribution  loss account reserve
US$'000 US$’000 US$000 US$’000

1,547,032 67,187 1,197,510 1,021,395

- - 334,908 -

- 5,902 - -

1,547,032 73089 1532418 1,021,395

As part of a group reorganisation 1n a prior period, the group took advantage of the relief afforded to 1t under section
132 of the Companies Act 1985 As a result, share prermum of only US$698,381,000 was recorded and the
remaining difference between the nominal value of the shares and the value at which the new shares were 1ssued of

US%$1,021,395,000 was credited to a non-distributable merger reserve

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

The Group
52 week period ended 57 week period ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
US$’000 US$°000
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation and for the
period 949,158 4,098,550
Exchange (loss) / gain on consolidation (5,053) 8.008
Actuanal gain / (loss) relating to the pension scheme 88,214 {300,452)
UK deterred tax attributable to the actuarial gain / (loss) (23,818) 84,127
Share-based payments (see note 8) 1,271 846 742,564
Management recharge related to share-based payments (1,271,846) (742,564)
Capital contnibution 5,902 -
Net increase 1n shareholder’s funds 1,014,403 3,890,233
Opening shareholder’s funds 17,656,911 13 766,678
Closmg shareholder’s funds 18,671,314 17,656,911
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FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The group’s financial commitments and contingencies outstanding at the period end anise from letters of credit
and forward foreign exchange, swaps options, financial futures contracts, debt and cquity forwards and
underwriting commitments entered 1nto in the ordmary course of business  Furthermore, there are registered
charges on the group’s assets which have arisen 1n the ordinary course of business

The group has undrawn loan commuments of US$190,173,000 (31 December 2009 US3$271 518,000) These
commitments are sub-participated to third party institutions

The group leases certain buildings on long-term leases Under these leases, which are subject to renegotiation at
various (ntervals specified i the leases, the group pays all insurance, maintenance and repairs of thesc
properties The rentals that the group s commutted to pay n the next year are as follows

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
US$’000 US$’000
Maturity of lease
Less than one year 1.812 -
Between | and 2 years L 2,969
Between 2 and 5 years 15125 12 639
Over 5 years 06,972 97.558
114,020 113,166

The group, 1n 11s capacity as an agency lender, indemmfies most of 1s securities lending customers against
losses incurred 1n the event that borrowers do not return securities The maximum exposure to loss under
guarantee at the period end 15 US$795,146,000 (31 December 2009 US$318,903.000) The market value of the
collateral held 1o cover the loss was US$837,734,000 (31 December 2009 US$348,507.000) There 15 minimal
performance risk associated with these guarantees
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Normal trading activittes expose the group to market credit and hquidity nsk These nisks described below, are
managed n accordance with established risk management policies and procedures

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc manages market, credit and hqudity risk on a consisient basis firmwide
Consequently, the group, as part of a global group adheres to global nisk management policies and procedures

The group seeks to monitor and control 1ts risk exposure through a variety of separate, but complementary, financial,
credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems In addition, a number of global, regional and entity
commuitices are responsible for monitoring risk exposures and for general oversight of the group’s nsk management
process (‘Risk Commutiees’) These commuttees meet regularly and consist of senior members of both our revenue-
producing units and departments that arc independent of our revenue-producing units In addition to the commuttees
functions that are independent of the revenue-producing unus, such as Comphance, Finance (including Risk
Management), Legal Internal Audit and Operations. perform global nisk management funcuions, which include
monitoring, analysing and evaluating risk

a. Market risk

Market nsk s the nisk of loss 1n the value of the group’s inventory due to changes in market prices Financial
instruments are held primarily for market making for chients and for investing and lending acuvities They, therefore,
change based on client demands and investment opportumties Financial instruments are accounted for at fair value
and, therefore, fluctuate on a daily basis Categonies of market risk include the following

. interest rate nisks prnimarily results from exposures to changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield
curves, the volauhues of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds and credit spreads,

. equity price risk resulis from exposures to changes in prices and volatthties of individual equities, baskets
of equities and equity indices and

. currency rate nsk results from exposures to changes 1n spot prices, forward prices and volatilites of
currency rates

The group manages market nsk by diversifying exposures, controlhng position sizes and establishing economic
hedges 1n related securnities or denivatives This includes

. accurate and timely exposure information incorporating multuiple risk metrics,
. a dynamic hmt setung framework and
. constant communication among revenue-producing umts, risk managers and senior management

Market Risk Management, which 1s independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to the chief nisk officer,
has pnimary responsibihty for assessing monitonng and managwing market risk Risks arc monitored and controlled
through strong oversight and independent contro! and support functions across the global businesses

Market Risk Management produces rnisk mcasures and momitors them against market nisk limits set by the Risk
Committees These measures reflect an extensive range of scenanos and the results are aggregated at trading desk,
business and entity levels

A variety of nsk measures are used 10 estmate the size of potennal losses for both moderate and more extreme
market moves over both shorter-term and long-term tume horizons Risk measures used for shorter-term periods
include Value-at-Risk (*“VaR’) and sensitivity metrics For longer-term horizons, the pnimary nsk measures are stress
tests The nisk reports detail key nisks, dnivers and changes for each desk and business, and are distnibuted daily to
scnior management of both the revenue-producing units and independent control and support functions
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a. Market risk (continued)

Management has made a sigmficant investment in technology to monitor market nisk including

. an independent calculanon of VaR and stress measures,

. risk measures calculated at individual position levels,

. attribution of risk measures to individual risk factors of each position,

. the ability to report many different views of the nisk measures, ¢ g by desk, business or product type and
. the ability to produce ad hoc analyses 1n a tmely manner

Value-.at-Risk

VaR 15 the potenual loss in value of inventory posiions due to adverse market movemenis over a defined ume
horsizon with a specified confidence level The group typically employs a one-day time honizon with a 95%
confidence level Thus, it would expect to see reductions in the fair value of inventory positions at least as large as
the reported VaR once per month

Inherent liimitations to VaR include

. VaR does not esumate potential losses over longer time horizons where moves may be extreme
. VaR does not take account of the relative hiquidity of <htferent nisk posiuons
. Previous moves in market risk factors may not produce accurate predictions of all future market moves

The historical data used in the group’s VaR calculation 1s weighted to give greater importance to more recent
observations and reflect current asset volatuliues This improves the accuracy of its estimates of potential loss As a
result, even 1f the group’s mventory posiens were unchanged, 1ts VaR would ncrease with ancreasing market
volatihity and vice versa

Given its reliance on historical data, VaR 1s most etfective in estimating risk exposures 1in markets 1n which there are
no sudden fundamental changes or shifts in market conditions

The accuracy of its VaR model 1s tested through daily backtesiing (1e comparing daily trading net revenues (o the
VaR measure calcutated as of the prior business day) for each of its businesses and major regulated subsidianes

VaR does not include
. positions that are best measured and monitored using sensitivity measures, and

. the impact of changes 1n counterparty and the group’s own credit spreads on derivatives as well as changes
10 1ts own credit spreads on unsecured borrowings for which the fair value option was elected

Stress Testing

The group uses stress testing to examine risks of specific porifolios as well as the potential impact of significant risk
exposures across the group It uses a vanety of scenarios to calculate the potential loss from a wide range of market
moves on 1ts portfolios These scenanos include the default of single corporate or sovereign entities, the impact of a
move 1n a single nsk factor across ail positions {e g equity prices or credit spreads) or a combination of two or more
nisk factors
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a. Market nsk (continued)

Unlike VaR measures, which have an imphed probabihity because they are calculated at a specified confidence level,
there 1s generally no imphed probabihty that the group’s stress test scenarios will occur Instead stress tests are used
to model both moderate and more extreme moves 1n underlying market factors When estimating potennal loss, the
group generally assumes that 1ts positions cannot be reduced or hedged (although expenence demonstrates that 1015
generally able to do so)

Stress test scenarios are conducted on a regular basis as part of routine risk management process and on an ad hoc
basis 1n response to market events or concerns Stress testing 15 an umportant part of nisk managerment process
because 1t allows the group to highhght potential loss concentrations, undertake nisk / reward analysis and assess and
mitigate 1ts risk positions

Linuts

Risk himits are used at various levels in the group (including entity, product and business) to govern nisk appetite by
controlling the size of its exposures to market risk Limuts are reviewed frequently and amended on a permanent or
temporary basis to reflect changing market conditions, business conditions or tolerance for risk

The Risk Commuttees sets market risk limits at relevant entity, business and product levels The purpose of the limits
15 to assist semor management 1n controlling the overall nisk profile Business level limits are designed to set the
desired maximum amount of exposure that may be managed by any particular business on a day-to-day basis without
additional levels of sentor management approval, effectively leaving day-to-day trading decisions to individual desk
managers and traders Accordingly, business level imits are a management tool designed to ensure appropriate
escalation rather than to establish maximum tolerance Business level limits also distribute risk among various
businesses 1n a manner that 1s consistent with their level of acuvity and client demand, taking into account the
relauive performance of each area

Market nsk limits are monitored dailly by Market Risk Management, which 1s responsible for identifying and
escalating, on a timely basis, instances where limits have been exceeded The business-level limuts are subject to the
same scrutiny and limnit escalation policy as that of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc and relevant entities When a nsk
limit has been exceeded, e g due to changes in market conditions, such as increased volatiliies or changes 1n
correlations, 1t 15 reported to the Risk Commuttees and a discussion takes place with the relevant desk managers, after
which either the risk position 1s reduced or the risk limit 15 temporarily or permanently increased

The following table sets forth the period end and daily VaR
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

US$m US$m
Total VaR at the end of the year 383 569
Average daily VaR tor the period 500 976

Sensitivity Measures

As noted above, certain portfolios and individual positions are not included 1n VaR because VaR 15 not the most
appropniate nisk measure The market nisk of these positions 1s determined by esumating the potenual reduction n
net revenues of a 10% declhine n asset value

The following table sets forth market risk for positions not included i the VaR

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Sensitivity Analysis - Material Areas not in VaR US$m US$m
Trading Risk Equity (10% sensitivitly measure on carrying
value) as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 339 2972
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a  Market risk (continued)
Other Market Risk Measures

In addition, the group’s VaR excludes certain funding habihiues As at 31 December 2010, the carrying value of the
habilitics was US$5 5 bilhion (31 December 2009 US3$5 5 lillion) If interest rates had been 50 basis points hugher
or lower and all other vaniables were held constant, the impact on these funding habilines would be to decrease /
increase the group’s net profit by US$19 6 mullion (31 December 2009 US$45 6 nuilion), mainly attributable to
exposure 1o 1nterest raigs on the group’s vanable rate borrowings

b. Credit Risk

Credut nsk represents the potennal for loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty, e g
an OTC denvauves counterparty or a borrower, or an 1ssuer of securities or other nstruments the group holds
Exposure to credit nisk comes mostly from chent transactions in OTC denvatives and loans and lending
commitments Credit nsk also comes from cash placed with banks, secunties financing transactions, 1e resale and
repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending activines, and receivables from brokers / dealers
clearing organisations, customers and counterparties

The Credit Risk Management department, which 1s independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to the
chief nsk officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monutoring and managing credut sk The Credit Pohcy
Committtee and the Risk Commuttees establish and review credit policies and parameters In addition, the group
holds other posiions that give rise to credit nisk, ¢ g bonds held 1n inventory and secondary bank loans These credn
risks are captured as a component of market risk measures, which are momitored and managed by Market Risk
Management, consisient with other inventory positions

Pohcies authonsed by the Risk Commuttees and the Credit Policy Committee prescnbe the level of formal approval
required for the group to assume credit exposure to a counterparty across all product areas. taking 1nto account any
enforceable netting provisions, collateral or other credit sk mitigants

Effective management of credit nsk requires accurate and timely information, a high level of communication and
knowledge of customers countries, industries and products The process for managing credit nsk includes

. approving transactions and scting and communicating credit exposure himits,

. monutoring comphance with established credit exposure hmts,

. assessing the hkelihood that a counterparty will default on 1ts payment obligauons,

. measuring the group s current and potenual credit exposure and losses resulting from counterparty default,
. reporting of credit exposures to senior management the Board and regulators

. use of credit risk mitigants, including collateral and hedging, and

. communication and collaboration with other independent control and supporn functions such as Operations,

Legal and Comphance
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
b. Credit Risk (continued)

As part of the risk assessment process Credit Risk Management performs credit reviews which include imual and
ongotng analyses of the group’s counterparties A credst review 1s an independent judgement about the capacity and
willingness of a counterparty to meet 1ts financial obhigations For substantially all of the group’s credit exposures,
the core of the process 1s an annual counterparty review A counterparty review 1s a witen analysis of a
counterparty’s business profile and finanual strength resulting in an nternal credut rating which represents the
probability of default on financial obligations to the group The determination of internal credit ratings incorporates
assumptions with respect to the counterparty’s future business performance, the nature and outlook for the
counterpariy’s industry and the cconomuc environment Semor personnel wathin Credit Risk Management, with
expertise 1n specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit ratings

The global credit nsk management systems capture credii exposure to individual counterparuies and on an aggregate
basis to counterparties and their subsidiaries (economc groups) These systems also provide management with
comprehensive information on aggregate credit nisk by product, internal credit rating, industry, country and region

Risk Measures and Limts

Credit sk 1s measured based on the potenual loss in an event of non-payment by a counterparty For denvatives and
secunities financing transactions, the primary measure 15 potential exposure, which 1s the estimate of the future
exposure that could arise over the life of a transaction based on market movements within a specified confidence
level Potential exposure takes into account netting and collateral arrangements For loans and lending commnments,
the primary measure 15 a funcuon of the notional amount of the position Credit nisk 1s also monntored 1n terms of
current exposure, which 1s the amount presently owed to the firm afier taking 1nto account applicable netting and
collateral

Credit hmts are used at vanous levels (counterparty, economic group, ndustry, country) to control the size of the
group’s credit exposures Limits for counterparties and economic groups are reviewed regularly and revised to
reflect changing appeutes for a given counterparty or group of counterparties Limits for industries and countries are
based on the group’s nsk tolerance and designed to allow for regular monitoring, review escalation and management
of credit risk concentrations

Stress Tests/Scenaro Analysis

Regular stress tests are used to calculate the credit exposures, including potential concentrations that would result
from applymmg shocks to counterparty crechit ratings or credit risk factors (e g currency rates, inierest rates equily
prices) These shocks include a wide range of moderate and more extreme market movements Some of the group’s
stress 1ests include shocks to muluple risk factors, consistent with the occurrence of a severe market or economic
event Unlike potential exposure, which 1s calculated within a specified confidence level, with a stress test there 1s
generally no assumed probability of these events occurring

Stress tests are run on a regular basis as part of the group’s routine risk management processes and conducts tailored
stress tests on an ad hoc basis in response to market developments Stress tests are regularly conducted jointly with
the group’s market and hquidity risk functions
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {(continued)
b. Credit Risk (continued}
Risk Mitigants

To reduce the credit exposures on dertvatives and securities financing transactions, the group may enter 1nto netung
agreements with counterparties that permit 1 to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties The group
may also reduce credit nsk with counterparties by entering 1nto agreements that enable 1t to obtain collateral from
them on an upfront or contingent basis and / or lermunate transacuons 1if the counterparty’s credit rating falls below a
specified level

For loans and lending commitments, the group typically employs a variely of potential nisk mitigants, depending on
the credit quality of the borrower and other characteristics of the transaction Risk mitigants include collateral
provisions, guarantees, covenants structural senionty of the bank loan claims and, for certain lending commitments,
provisions 1n the legal documentation that allow the group to adjust loan amounts, pricing, structure and other terms
as market conduions change The type and structure of risk mutigants employed can sigmficantly influence the
degree of crednt risk involved 1n a loan

When the group does not have sufficient visibility 1n1o a counterparty’s financial strength or when 1t believes a
counterparly requires support from its parent company, the group may obtain third-party guarantees of the
counterparty’s obligations The group also mutigates s credn nsk using credit derivatives or participation
agreements

Credit Exposures
The group’s credit exposures are described further below

Cash and Cash Equvalents. Cash and cash equivalents include both interest-bearing and non-interest beaning
deposits To miugate the nsk of credit loss, the group places substantally all of 1ts deposits with highly rated banks
and central banks

OTC Denvatives. Derivatives are reported at fair value on a gross-by-counterparty basis in the group s consolidated
financial statements unless it has current legal nght of set off and also intends 1o seuile on a net basis OTC
Derivatives are nsk-managed using the nisk processes, measures and limits described above

Lending Activittes. The group manages 1its traditional credit organisation activities, including funded loans and
lending commitments using the credst nisk process, measures and hmits descnibed above Other lending positions, are
risk-managed as a component of market risk

Resale Agreements and Securities Borrowed The group bears credit nsk related to resale agreements and
securities borrowed only to the extent that cash advanced o the counterparty exceeds the value of the collateral
received Therefore, the group's credit exposure on these transactions 1s sigmficantly lower than the amounts
recorded on the consohdated balance sheet (which represent tair values or contractual value before consideration of
collateral received) The group also has credit exposure on repurchase agreements and secunties loaned which are
liabilities on 1ts consolidated balance sheet to the extent that the value of collateral pledged to the counterparty for
these transactions exceeds the amount of cash received

Other Credit Exposures. The group 1s exposed to credit risk from its receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
orgamisations and customers and counterparties Recervables from brokers, dealers and cleaning orgamisations are
pnmarily comprised of tminal margin placed with clearing organisations and receivables related to sales of secunitics
which have traded but not yet settled These receivables have minimal credit nisk due to the low probability of
clearing orgamsation default and the short-term nature of receivables related to securities settlements Receivables
from customers and counterparnies are generally comprised of collaterahsed receivables related to customer
securities transactions and have mimimal credit nsk due to both the value of the collateral received and the short -
term nature of these recervables
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b. Credit Risk (continued)

The following tables disclose the carrying values of financial assets recorded m the consolidated financial statements
and represent the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of collateral obtained
or any other credit enhancements {for example derivative master netting agreements)

Gross credit exposure Gross credit exposure
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Exposure to credit risk by class US$m US$m
Financial instruments owned 474,990 500,576
Financial instruments owned and pledged as collateral 21,806 18,548
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 134,393 113,687
Debtors (excluding deferred tax asset of US$1,089 mulhion
(31 December 2009 US$843 mullion)) 108,240 113,029
Cash at bank and 1n hand 11,971 13,857
751,400 759,697

Carrying value
31 December 2010

Carrying value
31 December 2009

Credit rating US$m US$m
AAA 15,989 15,050
AA 135,315 120,725
A 452,540 478,762
BBB 41,084 38,102
BB 11,238 11,485
B 12 344 15,183
CCC 591 7.577
Unrated 82 299 72,813
Total 751,400 759,697

The table above groups exposure based on internal raungs assigned by the Credit department Posttions in cash
nventory (e g equities, bonds) are captured as market risk n the group’s risk management process and are not
assigned internal ratings These positions constitute the majonty of the exposures classified as unrated

As of the current and prior period end, financial assets past due or tmpaired were insignificant
Collateralised Transactions

The group and its subsidiaries receive financial instruments as collateral, primanly n connection with resale
agreements, sccuntics borrowed, dernvative transactions and customer margin loans  Such financial instruments may
include obhigations of the US Government, federal agencies, sovereigns and corporations as well as equities and
convertibles

In many cases, the group and 1ts subsicharies are permitted 1o deliver or repledge these financial instruments 1n
connection with entering into repurchase financings, collateralising dernivative transactions and meeting firm or
customer settlement requirements As of 31 December 2010, the fair value of financial struments received as
collateral by the group and 1ts subsidiaries that they were permitted to deliver or repledge was US$277 9 billion (31
December 2009 US3%255 8 billion), of which the group and its subsidianes delivered or repledged US$249 0 balhion
(31 December 2009 US$210 8 hillion)
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b. Credit Risk (continued)

The group and 1ts subsidhanes also pledge assets that they own to counterparties who may or may not have the right
to dehiver or repledge Financial instruments owned and pledged 1o counterparties that have the right to deliver or
repledge are included within ‘Financial instruments owned and pledged as collateral’ in the consolidaied financial
statements and were US$21 8 billion as of 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009 US$18 5 billion)  Financial
mstruments owned and pledged 1n connection with repurchase agreements, securnities lending agreements and other
secured financtngs to counterparties that did not have the night to sell or repledge are included in ‘Financial
mstruments owned’ 1n the consoltidated financial statements and were US$26 8 billion as of 31 December 2010 (31
December 2009 US$22 5 ballion)

In addition to repurchase agreements and securiues lending agreements, the group obtains secured funding through
the use of other arrangements  Other secured financings include arrangements that are non-recourse, that 1s, only the
subsidiary that executed the arrangement or a subsidiary guaranieemng the arrangement 1s obligated to repay the
financing Other secured financings consist of liabilies related to consolidated special purpose entities
collateralised central bank financings, transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as financings rather than
sales and other structured financing arrangements

c. Liqudity Risk

Liquidity 15 of critical mmportance to financial insututions Most of the recent failures of financial institutions have
occurred in large part due to nsufficient hguidity Accordingly, the group has in place a comprehensive and
conservative set of hgqudity and funding policies to address both group-specific and broader industry or market
hquidity events The principal objective 15 10 be able to fund the group and to enable the core businesses to continue
to generate revenues under adverse circumstances

The group manages hquidity nisk according 1o the following principles

. Excess Liquidity - maintain substantial excess liquidity to meet a broad range of potenuial cash outflows and
collateral needs 1n a stressed environment,

. Asset-Liabihty Management - assess the overall anticipated holding periods for the group s assets and their
potential 1lhiquidity 1n a stressed environment Manage the maturities and diversity of funding across
markets, products and counterparties, and seek to maintain habilities of appropnate terms relative to the
assel base, and

. Contingency Funding Plan (‘CFP’) - a group CFP 1s maintained to provide a tramework for analysing and
responding to a liquidity cnisis snuation or periods of market stress This framework sets forth the plan of
acuon to fund normal business acuvity in emergency and stress siuations
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

¢ Liquidity Risk (continued)

The following table details the group’s undiscounted cash flows of 1ts financial labilhites by contraciual matunty
including interest that will accrue, except where the group 1s entitled to repay the hability before its maturity
Denvauve contracts included within financial instruments sold but not yet purchased are presented at their fair value
and disclosed as ‘on demand” The group considers this more accurately represents the hquidity risk ansing from
denvatives and 15 consistent with how those risks are managed

Liabilities:

Financial instruments
sold, but not yet
purchased

Secunities sold under
agreements 1o
repurchase

Other creditors

Creditors falling due
after more than one year

Liabilities:

Financial tnstruments
sold but not yet
purchased

Securities sold under
agreements to
repurchase

Other Creditors

Creditors falling due
after more than one year

31 December 2010

More More More
than one than three than one
month but months year
Less less than but less but less Greater
than one three thanone thanfive than five
On Demand month months year years years Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
427,792 - - - - - 427,792
124 57,629 12,956 7,333 4,232 93 82,367
173,548 29,894 2,491 3,757 2 - 209,692
- - - - 6,964 7.648 14,612
601,464 87,523 15,447 11,090 11,198 7,741 734,463
31 December 2009
More More More
than one than three thanone
month but months year
Less less than but less but less Greater
than one three thanone thanfive than five
On Demand month months year years years Total
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
446 (078 - - - - - 446,078
257 48,842 8,301 7,705 566 - 65,671
188 983 22,793 6.096 1,557 ] - 219,430
- - 12 20 3,269 8,235 11,536
635,318 71,635 14,409 9,282 3,836 8,235 742,715
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d. Fair value of financial instruments

For financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value, the carrying amounts 1n the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value given the short term nature ol these nstruments, with the exception of the
below

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Carrying Approximate Carrying Approximate
value fair value value fair value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Subordinated loans (see note 23) 5,459 5,273 5,496 5,226

The long term subordinated loans are repayable on either 2 years and | day or 5 years and 1 day’s notice to or from
the holder Consequently, the tar value of long term subordinated debt has been determined on the assumption that
all leans are repaid on their carhiest potential repayment date, although repayment 1s subject to FSA approval

e. Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of a financial instrument 1s the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability 1n an orderly transaction between market parucipants at the measurement date Financial assets are marked
to bid prices and financial habilities are marked to offer prices Fair value measurements do not include transaction
costs

The best evidence of fair value 15 a quoted price 1n an active market If the hsted prices or quotation are not
available, fair value 1s determuined by reference to prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent transactions
in less active markets, or internally developed models, that primanly use, as inputs, market based or independently
sourced parameters, including but not limited to nterest rates, volaulities, equity or debt prices, foreign exchange
rates, commedities prices and credut curves

FRS 29 has three-level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of farr value measurements The fair value hierarchy
prioritises mnputs to the valuation techniques used to measure farr value, giving the highest prionity to level 1 mputs
and the lowest prionty to level 3 inputs A financial mstrument’s level in the fair value hierarchy 1s based on the
lowest level of any input that 1s significant to 1ts fair value measurement  The fair value hierarchy 1s as follows

. Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices 1n active markets o which the group had access at the
measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or habiliies

. Level 2 - Inputs 1o valuation technmiques are observable, either directly or indirectly
. Level 3 - One or more inputs to valuation techniques are significant and unobservable

The fair value of certain level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial labiliies may include valuation
adjustments for counter party and the group’s credit quality, transier restrictions, large and/or concentrated positions,
thiquidity and bad/otier inputs
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
e. Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the level within the fair value hierarchy financial instruments owned at fair value and
financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value, and other financial assets and financial habihities
accounted for at fair value under the fair value option

Financial assets at fair value as of 31 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 2010 US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial instruments owned, at fair value 45,435 432,015 19,346 496,796
Secunities purchased under agreements to resell - 134,393 - 134,393
Debtors - 28,528 - 28,528
Total financial assets at fair valoe 45,435 594,936 19,346 659,717
Financial habihties at fair value as of 31 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 2010 US$m US$m US$m US$m
Financial instruments sold but not yet purchased,

at fair value 35,002 380,996 11,794 427,792
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase - 80,307 2,060 82,367
Other creditors - 40,469 6,293 46,762
Total financial liabilities at fair value 35,002 501,772 20,147 556,921

Level 3 Rollforward

Duning the perniod ended 31 December 2010, there were no significant transfers between level 1 and 2 financial
assets and financial habiliues The following tables presents the changes in fair value for all the financial assets and
financial labilities categonised as level 3 for the period ended 31 December 2010 Gains and losses anising on level 3
assets are recogmsed within net revenue 1n the profit and loss account

If a financial asset or financial liabihty was transferred to level 3 duning a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for
the period 1s included in level 3 Transfers between levels are recogmised at the beginming of the reporting period 1n
which they occur Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or losses that were reported 1n level 3 1n prior periods
for the financial instruments that were transferred out of level 3 prior to the end of the period

Level 3 financial mstruments are frequently economucally hedged with level 1, level 2 and level 3 financial
instruments  Accordingly, gains or losses that are reported n level 3 can be partally offset by gans or losses
attributable to level 1 or level 2 or level 3 financial instruments

Included 1n the level 3 transfers out of financial assets of $4 6 billion 1s $1 1 billion which were principally due to
the consolidation of certain VIEs which were ehminated on consohdation The remaining transfers out of the level 3
financial assets of $3 5 billion and financial habihties of $3 6 billion are principally on certain credit, equity and
commodity denvatives The transfers are due to the improved transparency of mputs used (o value these financial
Instruments

Included n the level 3 wransfers into financial assets of $2 9 hillion and financial habilities of $1 8 lhon are
principally on certain credit, equity and interest rate derivatives The transfers are due to reduced transparency of
nputs used to value these financial assets and financial habilities
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

e.  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fmancial

instruments Total financial
Reconciliation of level 3 owned assets
financial assets- US$m US$m
At 1 January 2010 20,059 20,059
Profit for the period 5900 5,900
Purchases 1,575 1,575
Sales (591) (591)
Settlements (5,860) (5,860)
Transfers in to level 3 2,896 2,896
Transfers out of level 3 (4,633) (4,633)
At 31 December 2010 19,346 19,346

Financial instruments Securities sold

sold but not yet under agreements Total financial

Reconciliation of level 3 purchased to repurchase  Other creditors habilities
financial liabilities: US$m US$m USSm US$m
At | January 2010 14,529 394 4,819 19,742
Loss for the perniod 1,429 - 194 1,623
Purchases (64) - - (64)
Sales 904 1,666 2,244 4,814
Settlements (3,592) - (577) (4,169)
Transfers i to level 3 1,648 - 193 1,841
Transfers out of level 3 (3,060) - (580) (3,640)
At 31 December 2010 11,794 2,060 6,293 20,147

f. Financal instruments valued using techmques that incorporate unobservable mputs

The fair value of financial instruments may be determined 1n whole or part using a valuation techmque based on
assumptions that arc not supported by prices from observable current market transactions m the same instrument or
based on available observable market data and changing these assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fair
value The potential 1impact as at 31 December 2010 of using reasonable possible alternative assumptions for the
valuations mcluding significant unobservable inputs has been quanufied as approximately $460 million (restated 31
December 2009 $426 mullion) for favourable changes and $411 million (restated 31 December 2009 $312 mtllion)
for unfavourable changes In determuming reasonably possible alternative assumptions a detailed business and
position level review has been performed to 1dennfy and quant:ify instances where potential uncertainty exists This
has taken 1nto account the positions current value as compared to the range of available market information

In prior periods a bid offer spread methodology was applied to determine reasonable possible assumpuons A new
approach 1s considered to give a more refined view of the uncertainty by more fully considering the charactenstics of
the positions and the 2009 figures have accordingly been restated Had the previous methodology been used there
would have been no material movement in the numbers between 2009 and 2010
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
f. Financial instruments valued using techniques that incorporate unobservable inputs (continued)

The amounts not recogmsed 1n the consohidated income statement relating o the difference between the fair value at
imuial recogmuon (the transaction price) and the amounts determined at imtial recognition using the valuation
techmques (‘Day | P&L’) are as follows

US$m
At 1 January 2010 149
New transactions 141
Amounts recogmised 1n the consolidated profit and loss account during the pertod (83)
At 31 December 2010 207

g. Capital management

The company 1s the holding company tor a UK regulated group, which 15 regulated in the UK Financial Services
Authority {FSA) and as such 1s subject to mummum capital adequacy standards In implementing the Capital
Requirements Direciive (CRD) the FSA requires each bank and banking group to maintain an ndividually
prescribed ratio of capnal o nisk weighted assets The group monitors and demenstrated compliance with the
relevant regulatory capital requirements of the FSA at all umes during the penod

The level and composition of the group’s capital 1s prnincipally determined by 1ts regulatory capital requirements, but
may also be influenced by the busimess environment, conditions 1n the financial markets and assessments of potential
future losses due to extreme and adverse changes in the group’s business and market environment

The group’s caputal 1s divided 1nto three tiers

As at 31 December 2010

. Tier 1 capital - US$18 4 tillion (31 December 2009 US$17 7 llion) - comprises permanent share capital,

profit and loss account and reserves, share premium account, perpelual non-cumulative preference shares

. Tier 2 capial - US$53 billion (31 December 2009 US$54 billion) - solely comprises long term

subordinated debt

. Tier 3 capital — US$405 tmllion (31 December 2009 US$74 0 mullion) — comprises short term

subordinated debt

Vartous regulatory lunits and deductions are applied
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

On 19 July 2011, the UK Government enacted legislation that imposes an annual non-deductible tax on relevant
liabihues, as defined n the legislanon, for periods ending on or after | January 2011 for certain financial services
activities of large banks, including their subsidianies, that operate in the UK The current esumate of the tax for the
year ending 31 December 2011 1s approximately US$130 million, which will be accrued 1n the second half of 2011 _
The final amount may vary from this estimate as the tax will be based on the relevant iabilities as of 31 December
2011

In addition, on 9 August 2011, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services assigned its ‘A+ / A-17 long term and short term
counterparty credit ratings to Goldman Sachs International, a subsidiary undertaking of the group
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ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS
The immediate parent undertaking 15 Goldman Sachs (UK) L L C, a company registered in Delaware

The ultimate parent undertaking and the parent company of the smallest and largest group for which consohdated
financial statementis are prepared 1s The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc , a company incorporated 1n the United States of
America Copies of 1ts accounts can be obtained from 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282, Umted States of
America, the group’s principal place of business
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